
 

 High Peak Borough Council 

 
 

 
LICENSING COMMITTEE AGENDA 
 

You can view the 
agenda online by using 

a smart phone camera 
and scanning the code 
below: 

 
 

Date: 
 

Thursday, 31 March 2022 

Time: 
 

6.30 pm 

Venue: 

 

Virtual 

23 March 2022 

 
PART 1 

1. Apologies for absence  

2. To receive Disclosures of Interest on any matters before the Committee  

 i) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
ii) Other Interests 

 

3. To approve the Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 6) 

4. Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing Policy review and consultation (Pages 7 - 
34) 

5. Review of Gambling Policy (Pages 35 - 74) 

6. Licensing Enforcement Activity (Pages 75 - 78) 

 
MARK TRILLO 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND MONITORING OFFICER 
 

Membership of Licensing Committee 

Councillor M Stone (Chair) Councillor J Perkins (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor R Baker Councillor L Dowson 

Councillor C Farrell Councillor P Hardy 
Councillor I Huddlestone Councillor E Kelly 
Councillor E Lawson Councillor R McKeown 

Councillor K Sizeland Councillor S Young 
 

 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



 High Peak Borough Council 

 
 

LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 
 

Meeting: Thursday, 15 July 2021 at 6.30 pm in Virtual Meeting 

 
Present: Councillor M Stone (Chair)   

 
 Councillors R Baker, L Dowson, C Farrell, P Hardy, E Kelly, E Lawson, 

R McKeown, J Perkins, K Sizeland and S Young 

 
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors   

 
20/17 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

(Agenda Item 1) 
 

The Chair confirmed that the meeting was being broadcast live to the 

internet via the Council’s website and was capable of repeated viewing. The 
images and sound recording may be used for training purposes within the 
Council. All were asked to keep to the speaking guidelines which were 

outlined.  Any views expressed by any speaker in the meeting were the 
speaker’s own and did not necessarily reflect the views of High Peak 

Borough Council. 
The meeting was held as a deliberative meeting to enable formal decisions 
to be made the Executive Director under delegated powers. 

 
20/18 TO RECEIVE DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST ON ANY MATTERS BEFORE 

THE COMMITTEE 

(Agenda Item 2) 
 

Councillor Dowson declared an “other” interest in relation to agenda item 4 – 
Update Street Trading Policy - being a member of New Mills Town Council, 

which held a Bonfire event and Christmas Lights event each year. 
 

20/19 TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

(Agenda Item 3) 
 

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 28 January 2021 be 
approved as a correct record. 
 

20/20 UPDATED STREET TRADING POLICY 

(Agenda Item 4) 
 

The Head of Environmental Health appraised members on updates to the 
Policy which were deemed necessary since the last review in 2019. 

 
Consultation responses received were appended to the report and would be 

incorporated into the 2021-23 Policy. 
 
Members were keen to incorporate tighter controls on the use of plastics 

and clearance of any associated litter. Discussion took place regarding 
arrangements for charitable events and all agreed that, where it was difficult 

for some small organisations to ‘prove’ their charitable status, some Page 3

Agenda Item 3




Licensing Committee 
Thursday, 15 July 2021 

 

2 
 

flexibility would be available for applications to be looked at on a case-by-
case basis. 
 

RESOLVED –  

 That the consultation responses received be noted; 

 That the amendments shown in the Draft Street Trading Policy be 
approved; 

 That the amended Street Trading Policy 2021-23 be approved; 

 Delegated authority be given to the Head of Environmental Health to 
determine appropriate charitable status on a case-by-case basis. 

 
20/21 LICENSING ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITY 

(Agenda Item 5) 
 

The Committee considered an update on enforcement activity by the 

Licensing Section between November 2020 and May 2021. 
 

There had been a good level of compliance overall, particularly considering 
the fact that this had been in the midst of the Covid19 period. There had, 
however, been 2 joint visits (with Derbyshire Police) to a) an unlicensed 

Scrap Metal Yard and b) a licensed premises following a number of 
complaints of ASB, noise and intimidation. 

 
Covid19 had generated an unprecedented amount of work in responding to 
complaints and requests for service related to the pandemic. 

 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 

 
The Chair thanked officers for their efforts during the pandemic. 
 

 
The meeting concluded at 7.05 pm 

 
 
 

 
 
CHAIRMAN 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 4




Licensing Committee 
Thursday, 15 July 2021 

 

3 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



  

  
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

Licensing Committee 
 

31 March 2022 
 

 

TITLE: 
 

Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing 
Policy review and consultation 

 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 

 
Councillor Fiona Sloman- Executive 
Councillor for Housing and Licensing 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
Alicia Patterson - Head of Environmental 

Health 
 
WARDS INVOLVED: 

 

 
All Wards 

 
 

Appendices:  
 

Appendix 1  Proposals regarding emissions 

Appendix 2  Proposals regarding CCTV  
Appendix 3  Letter from the Derbyshire Police & Crime Commissioner  

Appendix 4  Sample Questionnaire for Consultation 
Appendix 5          Statutory Standards - CCTV Guidance  
 

1. Reason for the Report 
 

1.1 The report proposes an approach to consultation for the review of the 
Council’s current Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy .  

 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Committee approves the key areas of the Policy for consultation and 

the consultation timetable as outlined within the report. 
 
2.2 That, following the consultation period, the proposed revised Policy (together 

with a summary of key consultation comments) is considered further by the 
Committee at its meeting in October 2022, with a view to recommending a 

revised Policy to Full Council for formal adoption by the Council. 
 
3. Executive Summary 

 
3.1 It is a requirement that licensing authorities regularly review and update their 

policies to reflect changes in legislation, guidance and local circumstances. It 
has been 5 years since the introduction of the Council’s Taxi and Private Hire 
Vehicle Licensing Policy, and it is proposed that a further detailed review is 

now required to consider the following specific areas of the Policy:  

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



  

 

 Vehicle Emissions/Air Quality  

 CCTV  

 General Legislation and Best Practice  
 

3.2 The report and appendices set out the background to the proposed 
consultation exercise and confirms the issues on which it is proposed 

specifically to consult. 
 
3.3 The Council’s Climate Change Action Plan (Part 1), agreed by the Executive 

on 1st July 2021, aims to ensure that all key Council strategies and policies 
support the Council’s commitment to Carbon Zero by 2030. It is appropriate, 

therefore, to review the Council’s Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing 
Policy to support this aim and to integrate climate change commitments into 
the policy. The consultation exercise proposes measures which will promote 

reductions in the emissions from licensed vehicles, by changing the Council’s 
Policy regarding vehicle conditions. 

 
3.4 At its meeting held on 14th December 2021 the Council resolved to carry out a 

consultation with residents and stakeholders on the use of CCTV in licensed 

Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles between 1st March and 31st May 2022, with 
the results of the consultation to be considered by Council in 

September/October 2022. The report outlines the proposed approach to be 
taken to this element of the consultation exercise, including the updating of the 
Council’s current provisions in its Policy around CCTV and considering 

whether to make the installation of CCTV a mandatory requirement for all 
taxis. 

3.5 It is a requirement that any revised Policy must be approved at a Full Council 
meeting. Such approval cannot be granted until consultation has been 
undertaken with a range of statutory bodies and other organisations as is 

deemed appropriate. Section 7.16 of the report outlines the proposed 
timetable in respect of the consultation and adoption of the revised Policy by 

the Council.  
 
4. How this report links to Corporate Priorities  

 

4.1 Supporting our communities to create a healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak.  

 
4.2 Protect and improve the environment including responding to the climate 

emergency.  

 
5. Alternative Options 

 
5.1 To agree to the consultation process and the timetable proposed for the 

implementation of the revised Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 

Policy (Recommended). 
 
5.2  To refuse the consultation process and retain the Council’s current policies 

and conditions (Not recommended). 
 

Page 8



  

6. Implications 

 
6.1

  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 

 
The successful implementation of the Hackney Carriage and 

Private Hire Licensing Policy should have a positive impact on 
community safety and assist in the reduction of crime. 
 

6.2 Workforce 
 

The introduction of the revised policy may require additional  
resource for the Licensing Team which will be considered as part 
of the Council’s usual workforce planning.  

 
6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 

 
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's 
Diversity and Equality Policies. 

 
6.4 Financial Considerations 

 
The introduction of a revised policy may have financial implications 
for the Private Hire and Hackney Carriage Vehicle owners.  

 
6.5 Legal 

 

The failure of the Council to review, consult and publish the Taxi 
Licensing Policy on a regular basis may result in Judicial Review 

proceedings being brought against the Council. 
 
Decisions in relation to a licence are likely to amount to 

consideration of civil rights and obligations with the result that 
Article 6 (1) of the Human Rights Act 1998 is engaged. 

 
Should parts of the industry believe the Council’s Taxi Licensing 
Policy is not sound it would be open to them to undertake judicial 

review proceedings. 
 

6.6 Climate Change 
 
The Council is committed to tackling climate change and the 

proposed revision of this Policy will assist in ensuring that it 
contributes appropriately to this ambition.  

 
6.7 
 

Consultation 
 

A full consultation will be undertaken and made available to the 
relevant organisations listed as follows: 

 
• Derbyshire County Council Transport. 
• High Peak Borough Council Planning Section. 

Page 9



  

• High Peak Borough Council Environmental Health Section. 
• High Peak Borough Council Licensing Committee. 
• The Hackney carriage and private hire trade, including all 

licensed operators and drivers within the Borough. 
• Derbyshire Constabulary. 

• Derbyshire Police & Crime Commissioner. 
• Derbyshire County Council Trading Standards. 
• Derbyshire Safeguarding Board. 

• DVSA (Driver and Vehicles Standards Agency. 
 

Consultation will also be undertaken with the public. 
 

6.8 

 

Risk Assessment 

 
As considered within the report.  

 
Mark Trillo  

Executive Director (Governance & Commissioning) 
 
Web Links and 

Background Papers 

Contact details 

 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/driving-in-a-clean-air-

zone#minimum-emission-standards   
 
The Air Quality (Taxi and Private Hire Vehicles 

Database) (England and Wales) Regulations 2019: 
Statutory guidance 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/air-quality-

taxis-and-private-hire-vehicles-phvs-database-
guidance/the-air-quality-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicles-
database-england-and-wales-regulations-2019-

statutory-guidance 
 

Alicia Patterson 
Head of Environmental Health 

alicia.patterson@highpeak.gov.uk 
 

 

 
 
7. Detail 
 

7.1 The licensing of Hackney Carriages is governed by the Town Police Clauses 

Act 1847 and the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 
Private Hire Vehicles are governed by the Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1976. 

The 1976 Act places a duty on High Peak Borough Council, as the Licensing 
Authority, to licence all hire vehicles which operate from the Borough, which 
are provided with a driver and have less than nine passenger seats. 

7.2 The Council’s Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing Policy, which governs 
the way in which the Council will determine all applications which i t receives 

for Hackney and Private Hire Vehicles, was approved by Council in 2016. The 
Policy was reviewed by the Licensing Committee in January 2021 in light of 
the Government’s revised statutory guidance contained in the Statutory Taxi 

and Private Hire Vehicles Standards 2020 (“Statutory Standards”). As the 
Policy agreed in 2016 was developed with the specific intention of recognising 

Page 10

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/driving-in-a-clean-air-zone#minimum-emission-standards
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/driving-in-a-clean-air-zone#minimum-emission-standards
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/air-quality-taxis-and-private-hire-vehicles-phvs-database-guidance/the-air-quality-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicles-database-england-and-wales-regulations-2019-statutory-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/air-quality-taxis-and-private-hire-vehicles-phvs-database-guidance/the-air-quality-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicles-database-england-and-wales-regulations-2019-statutory-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/air-quality-taxis-and-private-hire-vehicles-phvs-database-guidance/the-air-quality-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicles-database-england-and-wales-regulations-2019-statutory-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/air-quality-taxis-and-private-hire-vehicles-phvs-database-guidance/the-air-quality-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicles-database-england-and-wales-regulations-2019-statutory-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/air-quality-taxis-and-private-hire-vehicles-phvs-database-guidance/the-air-quality-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicles-database-england-and-wales-regulations-2019-statutory-guidance


  

the significant impact of regional failures around the safeguarding of children 
and vulnerable adults, and as a result incorporated many provisions that at the 
time were only the subject of reports and studies but were felt to be of 

significance and likely to be required by government at some point in the near 
future, only limited changes to the Council’s Policy were recommended at that 

time. 
 

7.3 It is a requirement that licensing authorities regularly review and update 

policies to reflect changes in legislation, guidance and local circumstances. 
Other than the review last January, it has been 5 years since the introduction 

of the Council’s Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing Policy, and it is 
proposed that a further detailed review is now required to consider the 
following specific areas of the Policy:  

 

 Vehicle Emissions/Air Quality  

 CCTV  

 General Legislation and Best Practice  

Vehicle Emissions/Air Quality  

7.4 The Council’s Climate Change Action Plan (Part 1), agreed by the Executive 
on 1st July 2021, aims to ensure that all key Council strategies and policies 

support the Council’s commitment to Carbon Zero by 2030. It is appropriate, 
therefore, to review the Council’s Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing 

Policy to support this aim and to integrate climate change commitments into 
this policy. Reductions in the emissions from licensed vehicles will also 
contribute towards the Council’s obligations with regards to air quality 

management in the Borough. 
 

7.5 The Council’s current Policy requires that all new vehicles presented for 
licensing must have no damage affecting the structural safety of the vehicle 
and have no more than 75,000 miles on the odometer along with a valid MOT 

certificate which has been issued no more than one month prior to the 
application being submitted. It is proposed to consult on the removal of the 

75,000 mile requirement to allow drivers to source vehicles with a higher 
mileage but to introduce instead vehicle standards which will reduce the 
emissions from licensed vehicles.  

 
7.6  It is proposed to consult on revisions to the Policy to require licensed vehicles 

to comply with the emission requirements below (detailed in Appendix 1):  
 

 At first application – Vehicles must meet or exceed Euro  6 (Diesel) Euro 4 

(Petrol)  emissions standards.  
 

 At renewal – From 01/04/2024 vehicle licences will not be renewed in 
respect of any licensed vehicle that does not meet or exceed Euro 6 
emissions standards (Diesel) Euro 4 (Petrol) emissions standards. 

 
Where vehicles do not meet the relevant emissions criteria the proprietor may:  

Page 11



  

 

 have the vehicle adapted/modified to meet the standard and provide 
evidence of this; 

 change the fuel that is used to a cleaner alternative, such as bio diesel; or  

 replace the vehicle with one that meets the emission standard.  

 
CCTV 

 
7.7 The Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards 2020 confirm the 

Department for Transport’s view that CCTV can provide additional deterrence 

to prevent the possibility of harm to taxi passengers and provide investigative 
value when it does. The Standards suggest that the use of CCTV can provide 

a safer environment for the benefit of taxi/private hire vehicle passengers and 
drivers by:  

 

• deterring and preventing the occurrence of crime;  
• reducing the fear of crime;  

• assisting the police in investigating incidents of crime;  
• assisting insurance companies in investigating motor vehicle accidents.  
 

7.8 The Standards recommend that all licensing authorities should consult to 
identify if there are local circumstances which indicate that the installation of 

CCTV in vehicles would have either a positive or an adverse net effect on the 
safety of taxi and private hire vehicle users, including children or vulnerable 
adults, and taking into account potential privacy issues. The guidance 

indicates that while only a small minority of licensing authorities have so far 
mandated all vehicles to be fitted with CCTV systems, the experience of those 

authorities that have has been positive for both passengers and drivers. It also 
recoginises that the imposition of a blanket requirement to attach CCTV as a 
condition to a licence is likely to give rise to concerns about the proportionality 

of such an approach and will, therefore, require an appropriately strong 
justification and must be kept under regular review. More information and 

guidance on assessing the impacts of CCTV and on an authority mandating 
CCTV is contained in an annex to the Standards and attached in this report at 
Appendix 5.   

 
7.9 The Council’s current Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing Policy provides 

that image recording systems may (but not must) be used in hackney carriage 
and private hire vehicles licensed by the Council only where the equipment 
and systems comply with the specification detailed in the Policy and where 

consent in writing has been issued to the licensee of the vehicle in advance of 
use. 

 
7.10 Further, the Police and Crime Commissioner for Derbyshire has called upon 

all Derbyshire Councils to make camera installation a condition of taxi 

licensing in order to better protect women and the vulnerable (see Appendix 
3). Taking all these considerations into account, at its meeting held on 14 th 
December 2021, the Council resolved to carry out a consultation with 

residents and stakeholders on the use of CCTV in licensed Taxis and Private 
Hire Vehicles between  

1st March and 31st May 2022, with the results of the consultation to be 

Page 12



  

considered by this Committee, prior to any revised policy being considered by 
Full Council. 

 

7.11 For information, the Council was advised in December that there is no funding 
available from the Office of the Commissioner to support operators in any 

costs associated with implementing any scheme for the installation of CCTV 
should one be introduced. Further, the Commissioner’s Office also advised 
that they were making no recommendations/guildelines or specification on a 

particular system, as such the Committee may want officers to explore if there 
is a view from the Police/neighbouring authorities as to a preferred system 

across Derbyshire should the Committee seek to mandate such a scheme 
following the consultation exercise.  
 

7.12 It is proposed, therefore, to carry out consultation regarding the use of CCTV 
in taxis on the basis of the details contained in Appendix 2 attached. These 

proposals outline the changes which will be required in any event to the 
Council’s existing policy, and outlines the key issues which the Policy must 
address in this area including, in particular, in relation to data protection. It is 

further proposed, within the consultation questionnaire (attached at Appendix 
4 of the report), to consult on the  potential for all taxis to be required to have 

CCTV in place as a condition of their licence. Such a mandatory condition 
would, as highlighted in Appendix 2, have the potential implication of the 
Council becoming the “data controller” under the Data Protection Act 2018 and 

as such become the body which has legal responsibility under the Act for all 
matters concerning the use of personal data. It is recommended that the 
Council consider the outcome of the consultation exercise and at that stage 

determine whether to require the installation of CCTV in all taxis, in which 
case, at that stage, it will be necessary to confirm the detailed arrangements to 

give effect to that decision. 
 
General Legislation and Best Practice.  

 
7.13 As previously indicated, the Council’s Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing 

Policy was reviewed by the Licensing Committee in January 2021 in light of 
the Government’s revised statutory guidance contained in the Statutory Taxi 
and Private Hire Vehicles Standards 2020. 

 
7.14 At that review only limited changes to the Council’s Policy were 

recommended, including: a requirement for all drivers on submission of their 
next DBS Certificate to sign up to the DBS on-line checking service; 
agreement of a formal information sharing protocol with Derbyshire Police; and 

proposed changes to the assessment of previous convictions in the 
determination of licence applications. It is proposed that these changes to the 

Policy are included in the consultation exercise, together with consideration of 
any further proposed changes to ensure that the Council’s Policy reflects best 
practice. 

 
Consultation  

 
7.15 It is a requirement that any revised Policy must be approved at a Full Council 

meeting. Such approval cannot be granted until a consultation has been 

Page 13



  

undertaken with a range of statutory bodies and other organisations as is 
deemed appropriate. 

 

7.16 The following timetable is proposed in respect of the consultation and adoption 
of the revised policy:  

 

CONSULTATION 
ITEM 

TIMESCALE & DETAIL  

 
Vehicle 

Emissions/  
CCTV in Vehicles 

(Mandatory or 
Discretionary)   
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
MAY / JUNE 2022  (12 Weeks)  

 
The proposed options are contained in Appendices 1 & 2 

attached to the report. 
The consultation will seek to engage all of the Hackney 
Carriage and private hire trade including all licensed 

operators and drivers within the Borough as follows: 
 

 

 A questionnaire will be sent out to all Hackney 

Carriage and Private Hire Drivers and Vehicle 
owners  (Appendix 4 sample questionnaire)  

 

 Copies of consultation proposals be available to 
view on the Council’s website and a hard copy will 

be made available at the Buxton Reception. 

 Correspondence will be sent out to all Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire operators and drivers 

licensed with the Authority. 

 Several drop-in sessions will be scheduled to take 

place at Buxton and Glossop within the 12 week 
consultation period to accommodate 

representatives from the trade and other 
organisations to discuss any concerns or 
questions they may have about the proposed 

amendments. 
 

 The dates of the sessions will be included and 
advertised in the consultation information. 

 

 

Consultation 
Responses 

 
 

 

September/October 2022  
 

 Consultation responses received by the Council 
will be collated, discussed and presented to the 

Licensing Committee for consideration, and a 
decision to undertake futher consultation or to 
recommend a revised Policy to Council for 

adoption may be taken.  
 

Page 14



  

CONSULTATION 

ITEM 

TIMESCALE & DETAIL  

 
Adoption of the 
revised policy  

 

 
November 2022 to January 2023  

 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 PROPOSALS EMISSIONS 

 

The Council has, along with many other councils in the UK, declared that there is a current and 

future climate change emergency that requires urgent planning and action, one of the agreed plans 

of the Council is to ensure all services make the maximum possible impact in challenging the extent 
and causes of climate change. 

PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE LICNESING POLICY 2016 

TO AMEND APPENDIX B (VEHICLE LICENCE SPECIFICATIONS AND APPLICATION PROCESS) AS 

FOLLOWS  

 

7.3 All new vehicles presented for licensing must have no damage affecting the structural safety 

of the vehicle and have no more than 75,000 miles on the Odometer along with a valid MOT 

certificate which has been issued no more than one month prior to the application being 

submitted.  

(Proposal to remove the 75,000 mile requirement to allow drivers to source vehicles with a 

higher mileage but that can comply with the emission requirements below) 

 

Additional requirements  

 At first application – Vehicles must meet or exceed Euro  6 (Diesel) Euro 4 (Petrol)  emissions 

standards.  

 

 At renewal – From 01/04/2024 vehicle licences will not be renewed in respect of any 

licensed vehicle that does not meet or exceed Euro 6 emissions standards (Diesel) Euro 4 

(Petrol) emissions standards 
 

Where vehicles do not meet the relevant emissions criteria the proprietor may:  

• have the vehicle adapted / modified to meet the standard and provide evidence of this  

• change the fuel that is used to a cleaner alternative, such as bio diesel or  

• replace the vehicle with one that meets the emission standard.  

 

When will the different criteria be applied  

 If the licence of a currently licensed Hackney Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle is allowed to EXPIRE by 

its proprietor then any subsequent application will NOT be considered as a renewal. This means that 

where an existing vehicle licences expires, a subsequent application for a licence for that vehicle will 

be treated as a first time application and the standards and criteria relating to first time applications 

will be applied.   For the avoidance of doubt when a new vehicle has an existing plate transferred 

onto it the vehicle will be considered under the emissions criteria for a vehicle being licensed for the 
first time. 

Page 17



 

Page 18



APPENDIX 2 – INTRODUCTION OF CCTV, VOLUNTARY OR MANDATORY  

PROPOSED UPDATES AND CHANGES TO THE HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE POLICY 2016  

 

The current Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy refers to CCTV in Appendix L (Page 103) the 

current requirement will have to be amended to ensure that it is up to date and meets the following 

criteria.  

 

OVERVIEW  

The aim of updating the current requirement or introducing a mandatory requirement is to allow for 

the safe installation and use of CCTV systems in taxis and private hire cars licensed by High Peak 

Borough Council. In allowing the installation and use of CCTV, the Licensing Authority recognises  that 

it would need to demonstrate that such systems can be used to prevent and detect crime, reduce 

the fear of crime and enhance the safety of taxi  and private hire car drivers, as well as their 

passengers. In determining a voluntary or mandatory requirement, the Authority would also seek to 

ensure that the installation and operation of CCTV systems do not compromise the safety of  either 

drivers or passengers or unreasonably interfere with the privacy of members of the  public. 

DATA CONSIDERATIONS AND DEFINITIONS 

“THE DATA CONTROLLER” 

The Information Commissioner defines a “data controller” as the body which has legal  responsibility 

under the Data Protection Act 2018 for all matters concerning the use of personal data. For the 

purpose of the installation and operation of a CCTV system in taxis and private hire vehicles, the 
“data controller” will be the vehicle proprietor and not the driver.  

The licence holder, as data controller, will therefore be responsible for ensuring compliance with the 

requirements of this policy and with all relevant data protection legislation, including the Data 

Protection Act 1998. The data controller is legally responsible for the use of all  images including 
breaches of legislation. 

Note: If the Authority decides to make this requirement Mandatory, then the Local Authority may 
be deemed as the data controller and as such additional resources may need to be considered 

 

“THIRD PARTY DATA PROCESSOR” 

Where a service provider is used for the remote storage of CCTV data they will act as a ‘data 

processor’. A data processor, in relation to personal data, means any person (other 

than an employee of the data controller) who processes data on behalf of the data controller,  in 

response to specific instructions. The data controller retains full responsibility for the  actions of the 
data processor. 

Page 19



 There must be a formal written contract between the data controller and the data 

processor. 

 The contract must contain provisions covering security arrangements, retention/deletion 

 instructions, access requests and termination arrangements. A copy of the contract must 

be provided to an authorised officer of the Licensing Authority, or to the Police, on 
reasonable request. 

 

GENERAL REQUIREMENTS – INSTALLATION AND OPERATION (DRAFT CONSIDERATION FOR 
CONSULTATION)  

 

CCTV systems must not be used to record conversations between members of the public as this is 

highly intrusive and unlikely to be justified except in very exceptional circumstances.  

Wherever possible, the CCTV system should not have any sound recording facility.  However, if the 

system comes equipped with a sound recording facility, then this functionality should be disabled 
and only capable of being utilised in the following limited circumstances: - 

Audio recording will only be justified where the recording is triggered due to a specific threat  to 
driver or passenger safety, e.g., a ‘panic button’ is utilised and must be subject to the  

following safeguards: - 

a) Where this audio recording facility is utilised, a reset function must be installed which 

automatically disables audio recording and returns the system to normal default operation after a 
specified time period has elapsed. 

b) The time period that audio recording may be active should be the minimum possible and  should 
be declared at the time of submission for approval of the equipment. 

In the limited circumstance where audio recording is justified, signs must make it very clear that 

audio recording is being or may be carried out.  CCTV systems installed in taxis and private hire cars 

will be inspected as part of the vehicle test carried out by the Authority.  The installation and 

operation of a CCTV system must comply with the requirements of the  Information Commissioner’s 

CCTV Code of Practice, which is available at the following address:-  http://www.ico.gov.uk 

a) All equipment must comply with any legislative requirements in respect of Motor Vehicle 

Construction and Use Regulations. 

b) All equipment must meet all requirements as regards safety, technical acceptability and 

operational/data integrity. 

c) All equipment must be designed, constructed, and installed in such a way and in such 

materials as to present no danger to passengers or to the driver, including impact with the  

equipment in the event of a collision or danger from the electrical integrity being breached 

through vandalism, misuse, or wear and tear. In particular, the camera(s) must be fitted 

safely and securely in such a way that it does not adversely encroach into the passenger area 

and must not impact on the safety of the driver, passenger or other road users.  

d) All equipment must be installed as prescribed by the equipment and/or vehicle 

manufacturer installation instructions by a qualified auto-electrician. 

e) The CCTV system must not weaken the structure or any component part of the vehicle or 

interfere with the integrity of the manufacturer's original equipment. 

Page 20

http://www.ico.gov.uk/


f) All equipment must be installed in such a manner so as not to increase the risk of injury  

and/or discomfort to the driver and/or passengers. For example, temporary fixing methods 

such as suction cups will not be permitted, or lighting, such as infra-red, which emits at such 

a level that may cause distraction or nuisance to the driver and/or passengers.  

g) All equipment must be protected from the elements, secure from tampering and located 

such as to have the minimum intrusion into any passenger or driver area or impact on the 

luggage carrying capacity of the vehicle. 

h) It is contrary to the Motor Vehicle (Construction and Use) Regulations 1986 for equipment 

to obscure the view of the road through the windscreen. 

i) Equipment must not obscure or interfere with the operation of any of the vehicle’s standard  

and/or mandatory equipment, i.e. not mounted on or adjacent to air bags/air curtains or 

within proximity of other supplementary safety systems which may cause degradation in 

performance or functionality of such safety systems. Viewing screens within the vehicle for 

the purposes of viewing captured images will not be permitted.  

j) All wiring must be fused as set out in the manufacture’s technical specification and be  

appropriately routed. 

k) The location of the camera(s) installed within the vehicle must be for the purpose of  

providing a safer environment for the benefit of the taxi or private hire vehicle driver and  

passengers, and not for any other purpose. 

l) All equipment must be checked regularly and maintained to operational standards, including 

any repairs after damage. 

m) All system components requiring calibration in situ should be easily accessible.  

 

AUTOMOTIVE ELECTROMAGNETIC COMPATIBILITY REQUIREMENTS (EMC) 

 

 CCTV equipment must not interfere with any other safety, control, electrical, computer,  

navigation, satellite, or radio system in the vehicle. Any electrical equipment such as an in-

vehicle CCTV system fitted after the vehicle has been manufactured and registered, is 

deemed to be an Electronic Sub Assembly (ESA) under the European Community Automotive 

Electromagnetic Compatibility Directive and therefore must meet with requirements 

specified in that Directive.  

 

 CCTV equipment should be e-marked or CE-marked. If CE marked confirmation by the 

equipment manufacturer as being non-immunity related and suitable for use in motor 

vehicles is required. 

 

 Activation of the equipment may be via a number and combination of options, such as – 

door switches, time delay, drivers’ panic button or in the case of incident/event recorder, 

predetermined G-Force parameters set on one or more axis (i.e., braking, acceleration, 

lateral forces) and configured to record for a short period of time before the event, during 
the event and a short period following the event. 

 

SECURITY OF IMAGES 

 All images captured by the CCTV system must remain secure at all times. 

Page 21



 The captured images must be protected using encryption software which is designed to 

guard against the compromise of the stored data, for example, in the event of the vehicle or 

equipment being stolen. It is recommended by the Information Commissioner that the data 

controller ensures that any encryption software used meets or exceeds the current FIPS  

140-2 standard or equivalent. System protection access codes will also be required to ensure 
permanent security. 

 

RETENTION OF CCTV IMAGES 

 

The CCTV equipment selected for installation must have the capability of retaining images either: 

• within its own hard drive. 

• using a fully secured and appropriately encrypted detachable mass storage device, for 

example, a compact flash solid state card. 

• or where a service provider is providing storage facilities, transferred in real time using fully 

secured and appropriately encrypted GPRS GSM telephone signalling to a secure server 

within the service provider’s monitoring centre.  

 Images must not be downloaded onto any kind of portable media device (e.g. CDs or 

memory sticks) for the purpose of general storage outside the vehicle. 

 The CCTV system must include an automatic overwriting function, so that 

images are only retained within the installed storage device for a maximum period of 31 

days from the date of capture. 

 Where a service provider is used to store images on a secure server, the specified retention  
period must also only be for a maximum period of 31 days from the date of capture.  

Where applicable, these provisions shall also apply to audio recordings. 

 

USE OF INFORMATION RECORDED USING CCTV 

 

• Any images and any audio recording should only be used for the purposes described in this  
policy.  

 

 Requests may be made to the data controller by Authorised Officers of the Licensing 

Authority, the Police or other statutory law enforcement agencies, insurance 

companies/brokers/loss adjusters or exceptionally other appropriate bodies, to view 

captured images, or obtain audio recordings if applicable. The licence holder, as data 

controller, is responsible for responding to these requests. Police, Authorised Officers of the 

Licensing Authority, or other law enforcement agencies should produce a standard template 

request form, setting out the reasons why the disclosure is required. Alternatively, a signed 
statement may be accepted. 

 

Page 22



• All requests should only be accepted where they are in writing and specify the reasons why 
disclosure is required. 

 

• Under the Data Protection Act 2018, members of the public may also make a request for the 

disclosure of images, but only where they have been the subject of a recording. This is  

known as a ‘subject access request’. Such requests must only be accepted where they are in 

writing and include sufficient proofs of identity (which may include a photograph to confirm they are 
in fact the person in the 

recording). 

 

• Data controllers are also entitled to charge a fee for a subject access request (currently a 

maximum of £10) as published in the Information Commissioner’s CCTV Code of Practice.  

 

SIGNAGE 

• All taxis and private hire cars with CCTV must display signage within the vehicle to indicate 

that CCTV is in operation. The driver must also verbally bring to the attention of the  

passengers that CCTV equipment is in operation within the vehicle.   

 

• The signage must be displayed in such positions so as to minimise obstruction of vision and 
to make it as visible as possible to passengers, before and after entering the vehicle.  

 

• In the limited circumstance where audio recording is justified, signs must make it ve ry clear 
that audio recording is being or may be carried out and this must also be verbally brought to  

the attention of the passengers. 

 

CONTACT DETAILS 

 

The name and the contact telephone number of the licence holder, as data controller must  be 

included on the sign. 

 

SIGNAGE FOR EXTERNAL FACING CCTV SYSTEMS 

 

Where a CCTV system is installed within the vehicle in order to record incidents outside of  the 

vehicle, it will not be practical to display a sign. Instead, when the CCTV is activated in  response to an 

Page 23



incident, the driver of the vehicle must inform the person(s) recorded that their personal data was 
captured - as soon as practicable after the incident. 

They should also be informed of the purpose for which the device has been installed, being  driver 

and passenger safety. 

 

COST IMPLICATIONS  

The likely cost of installation of a CCTV system is conservatively around £1,000 per vehicle to ensure 

that the system proposed could meet the required standard, this would be the case if the 

requirement was voluntary or mandatory.  The Owner of the vehicle/driver would be responsible or 

the installation cost and ongoing maintenance.  

 

 

Page 24



 30 September 2021 

Dear Councillor McKeown,

Mandating of CCTV in Taxis 

You may be aware that Local Authorities have the ability to mandate CCTV in taxis and 
private hire vehicles as condition of license.  

The Department for Transport (DfT) issued statutory guidance in 2020 suggesting that 
CCTV can provide additional deterrence to prevent crime and offers additional 
investigative value to assist in bringing perpetrators to justice.  

As Police & Crime Commissioner for Derbyshire, I strongly support the mandating of 
CCTV to aid in the prevention and detection of crime whilst also helping to alleviate 
personal safety concerns shared by some passengers, particularly of women within the 
Night-Time Economy. In addition, I believe the mandating of CCTV will positively affect 
the fear of crime which is shared by some members of the public through discussions 
with my constituents.  

Derbyshire Constabulary recently used footage taken from a taxi CCTV camera to 
assist in providing evidence to tackle a County Line that exploited young people whilst 
also taking advantage of vulnerable adults in Derby City.  

The CCTV footage taken from the taxi enabled officers to piece together compelling 
evidence which led to the successful prosecution of 11 individuals. As a result, a 
significant number of vulnerable children were identified and safeguarded from the 
gang. In total, those involved received sentences amounting to more than 40 years in 
prison.  

Through the deployment of further CCTV in taxis, I envisage more crime will be 
detected and most importantly prevented, and more children and young people 
protected in Derbyshire.  

The General Licensing Committee from North East Derbyshire District Council recently 
supported a new policy to mandate CCTV in taxis. They will be the first Local Authority 
within the county to do this which I have wholeheartedly welcomed.  

The Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner for Derbyshire 
Butterley Hall, Ripley 
Derbyshire DE5 3RS 

T: 0300 122 6000 
F: 0300 122 7797 

     Email: 
pccoffice@derbyshire.police.uk

Page 25



Following conversations with Licensing Officers across Derbyshire, I understand many 
Local Authorities have recently been/or are planning to consult the public on a range of 
new measures outlined within the DfT guidance which may include the use of CCTV. 
I would like to ask you to consider the benefits of mandating CCTV to assist in making 
Derbyshire a safer place to live and work. 

I would be happy to discuss this issue further should you feel you need more information. 

I look forward to your feedback on this very important campaign. 

Yours Sincerely, 

Angelique Foster 
Police and Crime Commissioner for Derbyshire 

COPY TO: All Councillors within High Peak Borough Council

Page 26



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 

Licensing Policy Review 

About you 

Q1 Are you responding as: (Please tick)  

Licensed hackney carriage/Private Hire driver  

Licensed operator   

Member of the public  
If other, please specify 
 

 

 

About the taxi policy 

We are proposing some changes to the current policy, often called the taxi policy. The purpose of 

the policy is to explain how the council undertakes its functions when licensing hackney carriage and 

private hire vehicles. The primary focus being on safeguarding and public protection, particularly, 

the protection of children and vulnerable adults. 

 

Q2 Do you agree or disagree that the policy is easy to understand? (Please tick) 

Strongly agree  

Agree  

Neither agree nor disagree  
Disagree  

Strongly disagree  
 

Q3 Do you agree or disagree that the policy provides enough protection for children and 

vulnerable adults? 

Strongly agree  

Agree  
Neither agree nor disagree  

Disagree  

Strongly disagree  
If you disagree, what do you think should be added or removed from the policy to  
Improve it?  
 
 
 

 

 

Q4 Do you agree or disagree that the policy includes everything you think should be in such a 

policy? 

Strongly agree  

Agree  

Page 27



Neither agree nor disagree  
Disagree  

Strongly disagree  
If you disagree, what do you think should be added or removed from the draft policy to 
improve it?  
 
 

 

 

The Authority is proposing a new policy on vehicle emissions for licensed 

vehicles. Adoption of these new policy requirements for new and existing 

vehicles will enable High Peak Borough Council to meet similar, improved 

standards required by several other councils in our region. This will help to 

reduce traffic pollution and improve local air quality. 

We are running a consultation to hear your thoughts on the changes 

proposed below 

New licences: From the date of adoption of this policy in early 2023, it is proposed that all 

licensed vehicles must comply with the vehicle emission Euro standards in the 

Government’s Clean Air Zone Framework when they are first licensed. The current Euro 

standard is: 

 Petrol: Euro IV (2005 onwards manufacture) 

 Diesel: Euro VI (2015 onwards manufacture).  

 Hybrid vehicles are generally compliant with these standards. Liquid Petroleum Gas 

(LPG) 

vehicles are also compliant. 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/driving-in-a-clean-air-zone#minimum-emission-standards 

 

 From 1st April 2024 all existing vehicles must meet the Euro 6 (Diesel and Euro 4 

(petrol) emission standards  

 

Q5 Do you agree or disagree with the proposals on vehicle emissions  

     

Strongly agree  
Agree  

Neither agree nor disagree  
Disagree  

Strongly disagree  
If you disagree, which ones and why not? 
 
 

 

Page 28

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/driving-in-a-clean-air-zone#minimum-emission-standards


 
 

Q6 As a driver are you concerned about the financial burden to meet the new 

Emission Standards   

YES  
NO   

Comments  
 
 
 

 

 

The Government has acknowledged the potential risk to public safety when 

passengers travel in taxis and private hire vehicles. The use of CCTV can 

provide a safer environment for the benefit of taxi/private hire vehicle 

passengers and drivers by:  

• deterring and preventing the occurrence of crime 

• reducing the fear of crime 

• assisting the police in investigating incidents of crime 

• assisting insurance companies in investigating motor vehicle accidents.  

Q6 Do you agree or disagree that all taxis and private hire vehicles should have internal 
CCTV?  

Fitted as a mandatory Policy requirement? YES/NO 
Comments  
 
 
 

 

 

Fitted on a voluntary basis at the discretion 
of the driver? 

YES/NO 

Comments 
 
 
 

 

 

Q7 As a driver/member of the public using a private hire or hackney carriage 

taxi have you ever suffered any of the below in the last 3 years  

Aggressive behaviour YES/NO 
 

No of times in last 3 Years  
 
 

Page 29



Customer Not Paying the 
Fare/Driver asking for additional 
payment 
 

YES/NO 
 

 

Abusive / Racist customers 
/driver conduct 
issues/inappropriate 
conversations 
 

YES/NO  
 

 

Physical Assault, Threatening 
Behaviour 

YES/NO  
 

 

Disability Discrimination  YES/NO 
 

 

 
Additional Comments  
 
 
 

  

 

Q8 Do you feel that CCTV within the vehicle would have assisted or 

prevented any of the above  

YES   
NO   

Comments   
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Q9 As a driver are you concerned about the financial burden from installing a 

CCTV system within your vehicle  

YES  

NO   

Comments  
 
 
 

 

 

Q10 Do you have any other suggestions or comments to make? 

 
 
 

Page 30



 
 

 

Are you 

Male 
Female 

Gender Neutral  

 

What is your age? 

Under 18 

18-24 
25-34 

35-44 
45-54 

55-64 

65-74 
75+ 

 

Do you consider yourself to be a disabled person? (This may include any long-standing 

illness, disability or infirmity which has a substantial effect on your day to day life. 

Longstanding means it has lasted, or is likely to last, for over a year.) 

Yes 

No 
 

 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex – CCTV Guidance 

It is important to note that, in most circumstances, a licensing authority which mandates the 

installation of CCTV systems in taxis and private hire vehicles will be responsible for the data – the 

data controller. It is important that data controllers fully consider concerns regarding privacy and 

licensing authorities should consider how systems are configured, should they mandate CCTV (with 

or without audio recording). For example, vehicles may not be exclusively used for business , also 

serving as a car for personal use - it should therefore be possible to manually switch the system off 

(both audio and visual recording) when not being used for hire. Authorities should consider the 

Information Commissioner’s view on this matter that, in most cases, a requirement for continuous 

operation is unlikely to be fair and lawful processing of personal data.  

The Home Office ‘Surveillance Camera Code of Practice’  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/surveillance-camera-code-of-practice  advises that 

government is fully supportive of the use of overt surveillance cameras in a public place whenever 

that use is: 

• in pursuit of a legitimate aim; 

• necessary to meet a pressing need; 

• proportionate; 

• effective, and; 

• compliant with any relevant legal obligations 

The Code also sets out 12 guiding principles which, as a ‘relevant authority’ under section 33(5) of 

the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012, 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/9/section/33/enacted  licensing authorities must have 

regard to. It must be noted that, where a licence is granted subject to CCTV syste m conditions, the 

licensing authority assumes the role and responsibility of ‘System Operator’. The role requires 

consideration of all guiding principles in this code. The failure to comply with these principles may be 

detrimental to the use of CCTV evidence in court as this may be raised within disclosure to the 

Crown Prosecution Service and may be taken into account. 

The Surveillance Camera Commissioner (SCC) has provided guidance on the Surveillance Camera 

Code of Practice in its ‘Passport to Compliance’  

https://departmentfortransportuk.sharepoint.com/sites/BusTaxi/Taxis/Control%20of%20Taxis%20a

nd%20PHV/STATUTORY%20GUIDANCE%20(2019)/FINAL%20VERSION%20DOCUMENTS%20(2019)/g

overnment/public   which provides guidance on the necessary stages when planning, implementing 

and operating a surveillance camera system to ensure it complies with the code. The Information 

Commissioner’s Office (ICO) has also published a code of practice   https://ico.org.uk/media/for-

organisations/documents/1542/cctv-code-of-practice.pdf  which, in this context, focuses on the data 

governance requirement associated with the use of CCTV such as data retention and disposal, which 

it is important to follow in order to comply with the data protection principles. The SCC provides a 

self-assessment tool to assist operators to ensure compliance with the principles set of in the 

Surveillance Camera Code of Practice. The SCC also operate a certification scheme; authorities that 

obtain this accreditation are able to clearly demonstrate that their systems conform to the SCC’s 

best practice and are fully compliant with the Code  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/surveillance-camera-code-of-practice-self-

Page 33

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/surveillance-camera-code-of-practice
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/9/section/33/enacted
https://departmentfortransportuk.sharepoint.com/sites/BusTaxi/Taxis/Control%20of%20Taxis%20and%20PHV/STATUTORY%20GUIDANCE%20(2019)/FINAL%20VERSION%20DOCUMENTS%20(2019)/government/public
https://departmentfortransportuk.sharepoint.com/sites/BusTaxi/Taxis/Control%20of%20Taxis%20and%20PHV/STATUTORY%20GUIDANCE%20(2019)/FINAL%20VERSION%20DOCUMENTS%20(2019)/government/public
https://departmentfortransportuk.sharepoint.com/sites/BusTaxi/Taxis/Control%20of%20Taxis%20and%20PHV/STATUTORY%20GUIDANCE%20(2019)/FINAL%20VERSION%20DOCUMENTS%20(2019)/government/public
https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/documents/1542/cctv-code-of-practice.pdf
https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/documents/1542/cctv-code-of-practice.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/surveillance-camera-code-of-practice-self-assessment-tool


assessment-tool   and increase public confidence that any risks to their privacy have been fully 
considered and mitigated. 

The Data Protection Act 2018 regulates the use of personal data. Part 2 of the Data Protection Act 

applies to the general processing of personal data, and references and supplements the General 

Data Protection Regulation. Licensing authorities, as data controllers, must comply with all relevant 

aspects of data protection law. Particular attention should be paid to the rights of individuals which 

include the right to be informed, of access 39 and to erasure. The ICO has provided detailed 
guidance on how data controllers can ensure compliance with these. 

It is a further requirement of data protection law that before implementing a proposal that is likely 

to result in a high risk to the rights and freedoms of people, an impact assessment on the protection 

of personal data shall be carried out. The ICO recommends in guidance https://ico.org.uk/for-

organisations/guide-to-data-protection/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-

gdpr/security/ that if there is any doubt as to whether a Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) is 

required one should be conducted to ensure compliance and encourage best practice. A DPIA will 

also help to assess properly the anticipated benefits of installing CCTV (to passengers and drivers) 

and the associated privacy risks; these risks might be mitigated by having appropriate privacy 

information and signage, secure storage and access controls, retention policies, training for staff 

how to use the system, etc. 

It is essential to ensure that all recordings made are secure and can only be accessed by those with 

legitimate grounds to do so. This would normally be the police if investigating an alleged crime or 
the licensing authority if investigating a complaint or data access request. 

Encryption of the recording to which the licensing authority, acting as the data controller, holds the 

key, mitigates this issue and protects against theft of the vehicle or device. It is one of the guiding 

principles of data protection legislation, that personal data (including in this context, CCTV 

recordings and other potentially sensitive passenger information) is handled securely in a way that 

‘ensures appropriate security’, including protection against unauthorised or unl awful processing and 

against accidental loss, destruction or damage, using appropriate technical or organisational 
measures. 

All passengers must be made fully aware if CCTV is operating in a vehicle. Given that audio recording 

is considered to be more privacy intrusive, it is even more important that individuals are fully aware 

and limited only to occasions when passengers (or drivers) consider it necessary. The recording of 

audio should be used to provide an objective record of events such as disputes or i nappropriate 

behaviour and must not be continuously active by default and should recognise the need for privacy 

of passengers’ private conversations between themselves. Activation of the audio recording 

capability of a system might be instigated when either the passenger or driver operates a switch or 

button. As well as clear signage in vehicles, information on booking systems should be introduced. 

This might be text on a website, scripts or automated messages on telephone systems; the 

Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) has issued guidance on privacy information and the right to 

be informed on its website 

Page 34

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/surveillance-camera-code-of-practice-self-assessment-tool
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/security/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/security/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/security/


  

 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

Licensing Committee 
 

31 March 2022 
 

 

TITLE: 
 

Review of Gambling Policy 
 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 

 

Councillor Fiona Sloman - Executive 
Councillor for Housing and Licensing 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: 
 

Alicia Patterson - Head of Environmental 
Health 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
All Wards 

 
Appendix A – Revised Statement of Principles 2022-2025  
 
1. Reason for the Report 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to ensure that the Council complies with its legal 

obligations as provided by the Gambling Act 2005 which requires that the 
Council must consult and publish a revised Statement of Principles every 3 

years. 
 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Committee considers the legislation changes as detailed in 3.5 of this 
report and revises the Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 as attached at 

Appendix A. 
 
2.2 That the Committee recommends the revised Statement of Principles 2022 – 

2025 to Full Council for approval.  
 

 
3. Executive Summary 

 

3.1 Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 requires that the Council, as a licensing 
Authority, prepares and publishes a Statement of Principles under the 

Gambling Act 2005 every three years. The Council’s Statement of Principles 
is due for renewal in 2022.  The Statement will last for a 3 year period but may 
be reviewed at any time prior to this by the authority. 

 
3.2  It is a further requirement of the Act that a revised policy must be approved at 

a full meeting of the Council. Such approval cannot be granted until 
consultation has been undertaken with a range of statutory bodies defined by 
the Act. 

 

Page 35

Agenda Item 5



  

 
3.3  The Consultation was undertaken between 5th October 2021 – 04 November 

2021, and included all the relevant Stakeholders listed in page 4 of the Policy. 

 
3.4  The Council did not receive any responses during the consultation period.  

The only changes are amendments due to updates in guidance/legislation. 
 
3.5  A small number of amendments have been made to the previous Policy and 

incorporated in the new Statement of Principles policy 2022 – 2025.  
The main amendments are summarised below: 

 

Page 
No 

AMENDMENT TO POLICY WORDING 

 
2 

 
3 (2)  

 
4 

 
5  
10 

Part B 
(1)  
29 (4) 

 
35 

 
 

  

 
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  

 

4.1   The contents of this report relate to the following corporate priorities: 
 

• Creating a cleaner, safer and sustainable Borough. 
• Creating a healthy and active community. 

 
5. Alternative Options 

 

5.1 That the Committee approves the revised Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 
with the updated legislation changes (Recommended) 

 

5.2 That the Committee approves the revised Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 
without the updated legislation changes  (Not Recommended) 

 
6. Implications 

Any reference made to “Guidance issued to Licensing Authorities by the 
Gambling Commission” is the version which was published on 01 April 2021 
and last updated on 13 May 2021. 

(Census data from 2021 is currently being processed and will be published at 
www.ons.gov.uk). 

The consultation took place between 05 October 2021 and 04 November 
2021.  

:  licensing@highpeak.gov.uk 

The Gambling Commission’s Licence Conditions and Code of Practice (LCCP) 
which were revised and published on 31 October 2020, requires operators to 
consider local risks from the provision of gambling at their premises. 

A summary of gaming machine categories and entitlements can be found at 
Appendix B of the Guidance issued to Licensing Authorities by the Gambling 
Commission. https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/guidance/guidance-to-
licensingauthorities. 
 
https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/licensees-and-business/guide/local-
area-risk-assessments. 

 

Page 36



  

 
6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 

No Community Safety issues relating to this report  
 

6.2 Workforce 
 
No Workforce Issues related to this report 

 
6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 

 
No Issues  
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
 

No Financial Considerations  
 

6.5 Legal 

 
The Authority has a duty to review this policy every 3 years, failure 

to review and update the policy may result in action being taken 
against the Council.  
 

6.6 Climate Change 
 
No issues associated with this report  

 
6.7 

 

Consultation 

 
A consultation was carried out in accordance with the current 
legislation.  

 
6.8 

 

Risk Assessment 

 
No Issues associated with this report  

 
Mark Trillo  

Executive Director (Governance & Commissioning) 

 
Web Links and 

Background Papers 

Contact details 

Appendix (A) Revised Policy  Alicia Patterson 
Head of Environmental Health 

alicia.patterson@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 
 

 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

1 

 
 

HIGH PEAK  
 

BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 
 

GAMBLING ACT 2005 
 
 

STATEMENT OF  
PRINCIPLES 

2022-2025 
 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 39



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

2 

 

Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 

 
Contents 
 

Item Page 

1.  The Licensing objectives 3 

2.  Introduction 3-5 

3.  Declaration 5 

4.  Responsible Authorities 5 

5.  Interested Parties 6-7 

6.  Exchange of Information 7 

7.  Enforcement 8-9 

8.  Licensing authority functions 9 
Part B – Premises licences – Consideration of Licences  

1.  General Principles 10-17 

2.  Adult Gaming Centres 17 

3.  (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres 18 

4.  Casinos 19 

5.  Bingo 19-20 

6.  Betting Premises 20 

7.  Tracks 20-22 

8.  Travelling fairs 22 

9.   Provisional Statements 23-24 

10. Reviews 24-25 
Part C – Permits/Temporary and Occasional Use Notices  

1. Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre gaming machine permits 26 

2. (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits 27 

3. Prize Gaming Permits 28 

4. Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits 28-29 

5. Temporary Use Notices 29-30 

6. Occasional Use Notices 30 

7. Small Society Lotteries 30-31 
Appendices  

1. Table of Delegations of Licensing Functions 32 

2. Map of High Peak District 33 

3.Licensing Authority’s Guidance to Operators with Regards to Local 
Area Risk Assessments 

34 

 
 

Important Note: 
 

Any reference made to “Guidance issued to Licensing Authorities by the 
Gambling Commission” is the version which was published on 01 April 2021 
and last updated on 13 May 2021. 
 
 

 

Page 40



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

3 

1. The Licensing Objectives 
 

In exercising most of their functions under the Gambling Act 2005, licensing 
authorities must have regard to the licensing objectives as set out in section 1 

of the Act.  The licensing objectives are: 
 
 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 

associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime 
 

 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 
 

 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed 
or exploited by gambling 

 

It should be noted that the Gambling Commission has stated: “The 
requirement in relation to children is explicitly to protect them from being 

harmed or exploited by gambling”.   
 
This licensing authority is aware that, as per Section 153, in making decisions 

about premises licences and temporary use notices it should aim to permit the 
use of premises for gambling in so far as it thinks it: 

 

 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission 

 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission 

 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and 

 in accordance with the authority’s statement of licensing policy 

 
 
2.  Introduction 
 

High Peak Borough Council is situated in the County of Derbyshire, which 

contains eight District/Borough Councils and one Unitary Authority in total. 
High Peak Borough Council area has a population of 90,892 and covers 
39,171 hectares. (Census data from 2021 is currently being processed and 

will be published at www.ons.gov.uk). 
 

High Peak is a largely rural area with the main centres of population being 
Glossop, Buxton, New Mills, Chapel-en-le-Frith and Whaley Bridge. Appendix 
2 shows a map of High Peak. 

 
Licensing authorities are required by the Gambling Act 2005 to publish a 

statement of the principles, which they propose to apply when exercising their 
functions.  This statement must be published at least every three years.  The 
statement must also be reviewed from “time to time” and any amended parts 

re-consulted upon. The statement must be then re-published. The previous 
Policy statement was published in 2019. 

 

Page 41

http://www.ons.gov.uk/


 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

4 

High Peak Borough Council will consult widely upon this statement before 
finalising and publishing.  A list of the consultees is provided below.  

 
The Gambling Act requires that the following parties are consulted by 

Licensing Authorities: 
 

 The Chief Officer of Police 

 

 One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the 

interests of persons carrying on gambling businesses in the authority’s 
area. 

 

 One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the 
interests of persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the 

authority’s functions under the Gambling Act 2005. 
 

This Licensing Authority will consult with: 
 

 The Chief Constable, Derbyshire Constabulary 

 Derbyshire Safeguarding Board, Derbyshire County  
     Council Social Services 

 Derbyshire Fire & Rescue Service 

 Derbyshire Youth Services 

 Derbyshire County Council Trading Standards 

 Trade associations as appropriate 

 British Beer & Pub Association 

 Association of British Bookmakers 

 High Peak Borough Council elected Members 

 All Parish and Town Councils in High Peak 

 Local Chamber of Trade 

 All Town Centre Co-ordinators 

 Neighbouring local authorities 

 All Internal Departments of High Peak Borough Council  

 Representatives of current licence holders 

 National bodies representing the gambling trade. 

 National charities concerned with the social impact of gambling. 

 Members of the Public and Representatives of persons who hold Small 
Society Lottery Registrations in High Peak (via the website) 

 
The consultation took place between 05 October 2021 and 04 November 

2021. This licensing authority followed the Cabinet Office Guidance on 
Consultation Principles first published in July 2012 and last updated in March 
2018. 

 
The full list of comments made will be made available upon request to: The 

Licensing Section, High Peak Borough Council, Town Hall, Market Place, 
Buxton, SK17 6DZ 
. 

Page 42



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

5 

This policy will be approved at a meeting of the Full Council after consultation. 
Copies will be available for inspection on the website at www.highpeak.gov.uk 

 
Should you have any comments as regards this statement of principles please 

send them via e-mail or letter to the following contact: 
 
Licensing Team – Regulatory Services 

High Peak Borough Council, Town Hall, Market Place, Buxton, SK17 6DZ 
E-mail:  licensing@highpeak.gov.uk 

 
It should be noted that this statement of principles will not override the right of 
any person to make an application, make representations about an 

application, or apply for a review of a licence, as each will be considered on 
its own merits and according to the statutory requirements of the Gambling 

Act 2005.   
 
3. Declaration 

 

In producing the statement of principles, this licensing authority declares that 

it has had regard to the licensing objectives of the Gambling Act 2005, the 
guidance to licensing authorities issued by the Gambling, and any responses 
from those consulted on the statement. 

 
4. Responsible Authorities 

 

The licensing authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will 
apply in exercising its powers under Section 157(h) of the Act to designate, in 

writing, a body which is competent to advise the authority about the protection 
of children from harm.  The principles are: 

 

 the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole of 
the licensing authority’s area 

 

 the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected persons, 

rather than any particular vested interest group. 
 
In accordance with the suggestion in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 

local authorities, this authority designates the Derbyshire Safeguarding Board 
at Derbyshire County Council for this purpose. 

 
Section 157 of the Act identifies the bodies that are to be treated as 
responsible authorities.  They are as follows: 

 The Licensing Authority (High Peak Borough Council) 

 The Gambling Commission 

 The Chief Officer of Police for Derbyshire 

 Derbyshire Fire & Rescue Service 

 Local Planning Authority (High Peak Borough Council) 

 Environmental Health Pollution Section, High Peak Borough Council 

Page 43

mailto:licensing@highpeak.gov.uk


 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

6 

 Derbyshire Area Child Protection Services, Derbyshire County Council 
Social Services 

 HM Revenue and Customs 

 Director of Public Health for Derbyshire County Council 

 Any other person prescribed in regulations by the Secretary of State 
 

The contact details of all the Responsible Authorities under the Gambling Act 
2005 are available via the Council’s website at: www.highpeak.gov.uk 

 
 
5. Interested parties 

 

Interested parties can make representations about licence applications, 
or apply for a review of an existing licence.  These parties are defined in the 

Gambling Act 2005 as follows: 
 

 “For the purposes of this Part a person is an interested party in relation to an 
application for or in respect of a premises licence if, in the opinion of the 
licensing authority which issues the licence or to which the applications is 

made, the person- 
 

a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the  
      authorised activities, 
 

b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities, 
or 

c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b)” 
 
The licensing authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will 

apply in exercising its powers under the Gambling Act 2005 to determine 
whether a person is an interested party.  The principles are: 

 
Each case will be decided upon its merits.  This authority will not apply a rigid 
rule to its decision making.  It will consider the examples of considerations 

provided in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to licensing authorities as 
listed below. 

 
Persons living close to premises 
The factors that licensing authorities should take into account when 

determining what ‘sufficiently close to the premises’ means (in each case) 
may include:  

 the size of the premises 

 the nature of the premises 

 the distance of the premises from the location of the person making 
the representation 

 the potential impact of the premises (number of customers, routes 

likely to be taken by those visiting the establishment) 

Page 44



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

7 

 the circumstances of the complainant.  This is not the personal 
characteristics of the complainant, but the interests of the complainant 

which may be relevant to the distance from the premises. 
 

Persons with business interests 
The factors which this licensing authority will take into account when 
determining what “business interest that might be affected” may include: 

the size of the premises 
the’catchment’ area of the premises (that is, how far people travel to visit the 

premises) 
whether the person making the representation has business interests in that 
catchment area that might be affected. 

 
This licensing authority will also consider the Gambling Commission’s 

Guidance that ““business interests” should be given the widest possible 
interpretation and include partnerships, charities, faith groups and medical 
practices. 

 
Interested parties  

Can be persons who are democratically elected such as Councillors and 
MP’s.  No specific evidence of being asked to represent an interested person 
will be required as long as the Councillor/MP represents the ward likely to be 

affected.  Likewise, Parish Councils likely to be affected will be considered to 
be interested parties.  Other than these however, this authority will generally 

require written evidence that a person/body (e.g. an advocate/relative) 
‘represents’ someone who either lives sufficiently close to the premises to be 
likely to be affected by the authorised activities and/or has business interests 

that might be affected by the authorised activities.  A letter from one of these 
persons, requesting the representation is sufficient. 

 
If individuals wish to approach Councillors to ask them to represent their 
views, then care should be taken that the Councillors are not part of the 

Licensing Sub-Committee dealing with the licence application.  If there are 
any doubts, then please contact the licensing department. 

 
 
6. Exchange of Information 

 

Licensing authorities are required to include in their statements the principles 

to be applied by the authority in exercising the functions under sections 29 
and 30 of the Act with respect to the exchange of information between it and 
the Gambling Commission, and the functions under section 350 of the Act 

with the respect to the exchange of information between it and the other 
persons listed in Schedule 6 to the Act. 

 
The principle that this licensing authority applies is that it will act in 
accordance with the provisions of the Gambling Act 2005 in its exchange of 

information which includes the provision that the Data Protection Act 2018 
and the commensurate General Data Protection Regulations will not be 

contravened.  The licensing authority will also have regard to any Guidance 

Page 45



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

8 

issued by the Gambling Commission to Local Authorities on this matter when 
it is published, as well as any relevant regulations issued by the Secretary of 

State under the powers provided in the Gambling Act 2005. 
 

The Council has a duty to protect the public funds it administers and to this 
end, may use the information provided for the prevention and detection of 
fraud. It may also share information with other bodies responsible for auditing 

or administering public funds for these purposes, eg. National Fraud Initiative 
 

Should any protocols be established as regards information exchange with 
other bodies then they will be made available.  
 

7. Enforcement  
 

Licensing authorities are required by regulation under the Gambling Act 2005 
to state the principles to be applied by the authority in exercising the functions 
under Part 15 of the Act with respect to the inspection of premises; and the 

powers under section 346 of the Act to institute criminal proceedings in 
respect of the offences specified. 

 
This licensing authority’s principles are that it will be guided by the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance to local authorities and will endeavour to be: 
 

 Proportionate: regulators should only intervene when necessary:  

remedies should be appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified 
and minimised. 

 Accountable:  regulators must be able to justify decisions and be 

subject to public scrutiny. 

 Consistent:  rules and standards must be joined up and implemented 

fairly. 

 Transparent:  regulators should be open, and keep regulations simple 

and user friendly; and 

 Targeted:  regulation should be focused on the problem and minimise 

side effects. As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to local 
authorities this licensing authority will endeavour to avoid duplication 
with other regulatory regimes so far as possible.   

 
This licensing authority has adopted and implemented a risk-based 

programme, based on.  

 The licensing objectives 

 Relevant codes of practice 

 Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission 

 The principles set out in this statement of licensing policy.    

 
The main enforcement and compliance role for this licensing authority in 

terms of the Gambling Act 2005 will be to ensure compliance with the 
premises licences and other permissions which it authorises.  The Gambling 
Commission will be the enforcement body for the operating and personal 

licences, large society lotteries, remote gambling through websites and the 

Page 46



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

9 

National Lottery.  Concerns about manufacture, supply or repair of gaming 
machines will not be dealt with by the licensing authority but will be notified to 

the Gambling Commission.  
 

This licensing authority will keep abreast of developments as regards to the 
Regulators Compliance Code and the principles of the Legislative and 
Regulatory Reform Act 2006. 

 
Bearing in mind the principle of transparency, the licensing authority’s 

enforcement/compliance protocols/written agreements will be available upon 
request. 
 

 
8. Licensing Authority functions 

 

Licensing Authorities are required under the Act to: 
 

 Be responsible for the licensing of premises where gambling activities are 
to take place by issuing Premises Licences  

 Issue Provisional Statements  

 Regulate members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes who wish to 

undertake certain gaming activities via issuing Club Gaming Permits 
and/or Club Machine Permits  

 Issue Club Machine Permits to Commercial Clubs  

 Grant permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines at 
unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres  

 Receive notifications from alcohol licensed premises (under the Licensing 
Act 2003) or the use of two or fewer gaming machines  

 Issue Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits for premises licensed 
to sell/supply alcohol for consumption on the licensed premises, under the 
Licensing Act 2003, where there are more than two machines.  

 Register small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds  

 Issue Prize Gaming Permits  

 Receive and Endorse Temporary Use Notices  

 Receive Occasional Use Notices (for tracks) 

 Provide information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of 
licences issued (see section above on ‘information exchange) 

 Maintain registers of the permits and licences that are issued under these 
functions 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 47



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

10 

PART B 
PREMISES LICENCES: CONSIDERATION OF APPLICATIONS 

 
1. General Principles  

 

Premises licences will be subject to the permissions/restrictions set out in the 
Gambling Act 2005 and regulations, as well as specific mandatory and default 

conditions which will be detailed in regulations issued by the Secretary of 
State.  Licensing authorities are able to exclude default conditions and also 

attach others, where it is believed to be appropriate. 
 
(i)  Decision making 

This licensing authority is aware that in making decisions about premises 
licences it should aim to permit the use of premises for gambling: 

 

 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission  

 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and 

 in accordance with the authority’s statement of licensing policy 

 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission 

 
The Gambling Commission’s Licence Conditions and Code of Practice 
(LCCP) which were revised and published on 31 October 2020, requires 

operators to consider local risks from the provision of gambling at their 
premises. 

 
Part II of the LCCP provides: 
1 Licensees must assess the local risks to the licensing objectives posed by the 

provision of gambling facilities at each of their premises, and have policies, 
procedures and control measures to mitigate those risks. In making risk 
assessments, licensees must take into account relevant matters identified in the 
licensing authority’s statement of licensing policy.  
2 Licensees must review (and update as necessary) their local risk assessments:  

a to take account of significant changes in local circumstances, including 

those identified in a licensing authority’s statement of licensing policy.  
b when there are significant changes at a licensee’s premises that may affect 

their mitigation of local risks.  
c when applying for a variation of a premises licence; and  
d in any case, undertakes a local risk assessment when applying for a new 

premises licence.  
 

Part II also provides: 
1 Licensees should share their risk assessment with licensing authorities when 

applying for a premises licence or applying for a variation to existing licensed 

premises, or otherwise on request. 

 
The Licensing Authority must provide guidance to operators on what it 
considers should be included in the risk assessments and identify any local 

risks to be considered prior to making an application. The guidance will be 

Page 48



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

11 

appended to the Statement of Principles and may be amended from time to 
time subject to approval by the Licensing Committee. 

 
The Council will expect the local risk assessment to include the below 

considerations as a minimum: 
 

- The location of services for children such as schools, playgrounds, 

leisure/community centres and other areas where children will 

gather. 

- The demographics of the area in relation to vulnerable groups. 

- Whether the premises is in an area subject to high levels of crime 

and/or disorder. 

- How vulnerable people, including those with gambling 

dependencies are protected. 

- Any information held regarding self-exclusions and incidences of 

underage gambling. 

- Gaming trends that reflect pay day or benefit payments. 

- Known problems in the area such as problems arising from street 

drinkers, individuals involved in areas such as ASB, drug dealing 

etc 

- Areas or premises where children are known to congregate 

including bus stops, cafes etc. 

- Areas or premises that may be frequented by vulnerable adults 

such as hospitals, residential care homes, medical facilities, 

addiction clinics, places where alcohol or drug dependant 

individuals may congregate.  

 
In accordance with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to local authorities 
“moral objections to gambling are not a valid reason to reject applications for 

premises licences” (except as regards any ‘no casino resolution’) and also 
that unmet demand is not a criterion for a licensing authority. (See section on 

Casinos) 
 
(ii) Definition of “premises” - Premises are defined in the Act as “any place”.  

Section 152 therefore prevents more than one premises licence applying to 
any place, but a single building can be subject to more than one premises 

licence, provided they are for different parts of the building and the different 
parts of the building can be reasonably regarded as being different premises.  
This approach has been taken to allow large, multiple unit premises such as a 

pleasure park, pier, track or shopping mall to obtain discrete premises 
licences, where appropriate safeguards are in place.  However, licensing 

authorities should pay particular attention if there are issues about sub-
divisions of a single building or plot and should ensure that mandatory 
conditions relating to access between premises are observed. 

 
The Gambling Commission states in its Guidance to Licensing Authorities that 

 

Page 49



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

12 

 “In most cases the expectation is that a single building/plot will be the subject 
of an application for a licence for example, 32 High Street.  But that does not 

mean 32 High Street cannot be the subject of separate premises licences for 
the basement and ground floor, if they are configured acceptably.  Whether 

different parts of a building can properly be regarded as being separate 
premises will depend on the circumstances.  The location of the premises will 
clearly be an important consideration and the suitability of the division is likely 

to be a matter for discussion between the operator and the licensing officer.  
However, the Commission does not consider that areas of a building that are 

artificially or temporarily separated, for example by ropes or moveable 
partitions, can properly be regarded as different premises”.   
 

 
Licensing Authorities should take particular care in considering applications 

for multiple licences for a building and those relating to a discrete part of a 
building used for other (non-gambling) purposes.  In particular they should be 
aware of the following: 

 

 The third licensing objective seeks to protect children from being harmed 

by gambling.  In practice that means not only preventing them from taking 
part in gambling, but also preventing them from being in close proximity to 
gambling.  Therefore, premises should be configured so that children are 

not invited to participate in, have accidental access to or closely observe 
gambling where they are prohibited from participating. 

 Entrances to and exits from parts of a building covered by one or more 
premises licences should be separate and identifiable so that the 

separation of different premises is not compromised, and people do not 
“drift” into a gambling area. In this context it should normally be possible to 
access the premises without going through another licensed premises or 

premises with a permit. 

 Customers should be able to participate in the activity named on the 

premises licence. 
 
The Guidance also gives a list of factors which the licensing authority should 

be aware of, which may include: 
 

 Do the premises have a separate registration for business rates? 

 Are neighbouring premises owned by the same person as that 

premises subject to the Gambling Act requirements? 

 Can each of the premises be accessed from the street or a public 
passageway? 

 Can the premises only be accessed from any other gambling 
premises? 

 
This authority will consider these and other relevant factors in making its 
decision, depending on all the circumstances of the case. 

 
 

Page 50



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

13 

The Gambling Commission’s relevant access provisions for each 
premises type are reproduced below: 

 
Casinos 

 The principal access entrance to the premises must be from a street  

 No entrance to a casino must be from premises that are used wholly or 

mainly by children and/or young persons 

 No customer must be able to enter a casino directly from any other 
premises which holds a gambling premises licence 

 
Adult Gaming Centre 

 No customer must be able to access the premises directly from any 
other licensed gambling premises 

 
Betting Shops 

 Access must be from a street or from another premises with a betting 

premises licence 

 No direct access from a betting shop to another premises used for the 

retail sale of any kind and you could not have a betting shop at the 
back of a café’ – the whole area would have to be licensed. 

 
Tracks 

 No customer should be able to access the premises directly from: 

- a casino 
- an adult gaming centre 

 
Bingo Premises 

 No customer must be able to access the premise directly from: 

- a casino 
- an adult gaming centre 

- a betting premises, other than a track 
 
Family Entertainment Centre 

 No customer must be able to access the premises directly from: 
- a casino 

- an adult gaming centre 
- a betting premises, other than a track 

 

 
(iii) Premises “ready for gambling” 

The Guidance states that a licence to use premises for gambling should only 
be issued in relation to premises that the licensing authority can be satisfied 
are going to be ready to be used for gambling in the reasonably near future, 

consistent with the scale of building or alterations required before the 
premises are brought into use. 

 
If the construction of a premises is not yet complete, or if they need alteration, 
or if the applicant does not yet have a right to occupy them, then an 

application for a provisional statement should be made instead. 

Page 51



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

14 

In deciding whether a premises licence can be granted where there are 
outstanding construction or alteration works at a premises, this authority will 

determine applications on their merits, applying a two stage consideration 
process: - 

 

 whether the premises ought to be permitted to be used for gambling 

 whether appropriate conditions can be put in place to cater for the 

situation that the premises are not yet in the state in which they ought 
to be before gambling takes place. 

 
Applicants should note that this authority is entitled to decide that it is 

appropriate to grant a licence subject to conditions, but it is not obliged to 
grant such a licence. 
 

(iv) Location - This licensing authority is aware that demand issues cannot be 
considered with regard to the location of premises but that considerations in 

terms of the licensing objectives are relevant to its decision making. As per 
the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for licensing authori ties, this authority 
will pay particular attention to the protection of children and vulnerable 

persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling, as well as issues of 
crime and disorder.  Should any specific policy be decided upon as regards 

areas where gambling premises should not be located, this statement will be 
updated.  It should be noted that any such policy does not preclude any 
application being made and each application will be decided on its merits, with 

the onus upon the applicant showing how potential concerns can be 
overcome.  

 
(v)  Planning 

The Gambling Commission Guidance to Licensing Authorities states that In 

determining applications the licensing authority has a duty to take into 
consideration all relevant matters and not to take into consideration any 

irrelevant matters, i.e. those not related to gambling and the licensing 
objectives.  One example of an irrelevant matter would be the likelihood of the 
applicant obtaining planning permission or building regulations approval for 

their proposal. This authority will not take into account irrelevant matters as 
per the above guidance.  

 
When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, the 
licensing authority should not take into account whether those buildings have 

or comply with the necessary planning or building consents.  Those matters 
should be dealt with under relevant planning control and building regulation 
powers, and not form part of the consideration for the premises licence.  

Section 210 of the 2005 Act prevents licensing authorities taking into account 
the likelihood of the proposal by the applicant obtaining planning or building 

consent when considering a premises licence application.  Equally the grant 
of a gambling premises licence does not prejudice or prevent any action that 
may be appropriate under the law relating to planning or building. 

 
(vi) Duplication with other regulatory regimes – This licensing authority 

seeks to avoid any duplication with other statutory/regulatory systems where 

Page 52



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

15 

possible, including planning.  This authority will not consider whether a licence 
application is likely to be awarded planning permission or building regulations 

approval, in its consideration of it.  It will though, listen to, and consider 
carefully, any concerns about conditions which are not able to be met by 

licensees due to planning restrictions, should such a situation arise. 
 

When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, this 

authority will not take into account whether those buildings have to comply 
with the necessary planning or building consents.  Fire or health and safety 

risks will not be taken into account, as these matters are dealt with under 
relevant planning control, buildings and other regulations and must not form 
part of the consideration for the premises licence. 

 
Licensing objectives - Premises licences granted must be reasonably 

consistent with the licensing objectives.  With regard to these objectives, this 
licensing authority has considered the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
local authorities and some comments are made below. 

 
Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 

associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime  

 
This licensing authority is aware that the Gambling Commission takes a 

leading role in preventing gambling from being a source of crime.  The 
Gambling Commission’s Guidance does however envisage that licensing 

authorities should pay attention to the proposed location of gambling premises 
in terms of this licensing objective.  Thus, where an area has known high 
levels of organised crime this authority will consider carefully whether 

gambling premises are suitable to be located there and whether conditions 
may be suitable such as the provision of door supervisors.  This licensing 

authority is aware of the distinction between disorder and nuisance and will 
consider such factors (for example whether police assistance was required 
and how threatening the behaviour was to those who could see it) so as to 

make that distinction.   
 
Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 
 

This licensing authority has noted that the Gambling Commission has stated 

that it would generally not expect licensing authorities to become concerned 
with ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way, as this will 

be addressed via operating and personal licences.  There is however, more of 
a role with regard to track gambling which is explained in more detail in the 
‘tracks’ section – see page 20. 

 
Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling 

 

This licensing authority has noted the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for 

local authorities states that this objective means preventing children from 
taking part in gambling (as well as restriction of advertising so that gambling 
products are not aimed at or are, particularly attractive to children).  The 

Page 53



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

16 

licensing authority will therefore consider, as suggested in the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance, whether specific measures are required at particular 

premises, with regard to this licensing objective.  Appropriate measures may 
include supervision of entrances/machines, segregation of areas, use of 

‘Challenge 25’ principles etc. 
 

As regards the term “vulnerable persons” it is noted that neither the Gambling 

Commission nor the Council is seeking to offer a definition but will, for 
regulatory purposes, assume that this group includes people who gamble 

more than they want to; people who gamble beyond their means and people 
who may not be able to make informed or balanced decisions about gambling 
due to mental health needs, learning disability or substance misuse relating to 

alcohol or drugs. The Council will consider this licensing objective on a case 
by case basis having regard to any guidance issued by the Gambling 

Commission. Should a practical definition prove possible in future then this 
policy statement will be updated with it, by way of a revision 
 

Conditions - Any conditions attached to licences will be proportionate and will 
be: 

 

 relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a gambling  
      facility. 

 directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for; 

 fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises; and 

 reasonable in all other respects.  
 

Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis, 
although there will be a number of measures this licensing authority will 
consider utilising should there be a perceived need, such as the use of 

supervisors, appropriate signage for adult only areas etc.  There are specific 
comments made in this regard under some of the licence types below.  This 

licensing authority will also expect the licence applicant to offer his/her own 
suggestions as to way in which the licensing objectives can be met effectively. 
 

This authority will also consider specific measures, which may be required for 
buildings which are subject to multiple premises licences.  Such measures 

may include the supervision of entrances; segregation of gambling from non-
gambling areas frequented by children; and the supervision of gaming 
machines in non-adult gambling specific premises in order to pursue the 

licensing objectives.  These matters are in accordance with the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance.   

 
This authority will also ensure that where category C or above machines are 
on offer in premises to which children are admitted: 

 

 all such machines are located in an area of the premises which is 

separated from the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which 
is effective to prevent access other than through a designated entrance. 

 only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located. 

Page 54



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

17 

 access to the area where the machines are located is supervised. 

 the area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can be 

observed by the staff or the licence holder; and 

 at the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently 

displayed notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to 
persons under 18. 

 
These considerations will apply to premises including buildings where multiple 
premises licences are applicable. 

 
This licensing authority is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more 

than one premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area 
of the track.  As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance, this licensing 
authority will consider the impact upon the third licensing objective and the 

need to ensure that entrances to each type of premises are distinct and that 
children are excluded from gambling areas where they are not permitted to 

enter. 
 
Conditions which the licensing authority cannot attach to premises licences 

are: 
 

 any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible to comply 
with an operating licence condition  

 conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of 

operation. 

 conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required 

(the Gambling Act  2005 specifically removes the membership requirement 
for casino and bingo clubs and this provision prevents it being reinstated; 

and 

 Conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winnings or prizes 

 
 
Door Supervisors - The Gambling Commission advises in Guidance for local 

authorities that if a licensing authority is concerned that a premises may 
attract disorder or be subject to attempts at unauthorised access (for example 
by children and young persons) then it may require that the entrances to the 

premises are controlled by a door supervisor and is entitled to impose a 
premises licence to this effect. 

 
Where it is decided that supervision of entrances/machines is appropriate for 
particular cases, a consideration of whether these need to be SIA licensed or 

not will be necessary.  It will not be automatically assumed that they need to 
be licensed, as the statutory requirements for different types of premises vary. 

 
  
2. Adult Gaming Centres 

This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect 
children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling 

and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient 

Page 55



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

18 

measures to, for example, ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access 
to the premises. 

 
This licensing authority may consider measures to meet the licensing 

objectives such as: 
 

 Proof of age schemes 

 CCTV 

 Supervision of entrances / machine areas 

 Physical separation of areas 

 Location of entry 

 Notices/signage 

 Specific opening hours 

 Self-exclusion schemes 

 Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such  

      as GamCare. 

 Measures/training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school 

children on the premises. 
 
This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 

measures. 
 
3. (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres: 

This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect 
children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling 

and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority, for example, that there 
will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have 

access to the adult only gaming machine areas.  
 
This licensing authority will expect applicants to offer their own measures to 

meet the licensing objectives; however appropriate measures/ licence 
conditions may cover issues such as: 

 

 CCTV 

 Door supervisors 

 Supervision of entrances / machine areas 

 Physical separation of areas 

 Location of entry 

 Notices/signage 

 Specific opening hours 

 Self exclusion schemes 

 Provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations such 
as GamCare. 

 Measures/training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school 
children on the premises. 

 

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures. 

 

Page 56



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

19 

This licensing authority will, as per the Gambling Commission’s guidance, 
refer to the Commission’s website to see any conditions that apply to 

operating licences covering the way in which the area containing the category 
C machines should be delineated.  This licensing authority will also make 

itself aware of any mandatory or default conditions on these premises 
licences, when they have been published.   
 

4. Casinos 

 

No Casinos resolution - This licensing authority has not passed a ‘no casino’ 
resolution under Section 166 of the Gambling Act 2005, but is aware that it 
has the power to do so. Should this licensing authority decide in the future to 

pass such a resolution, it will update this policy statement with details of that 
resolution. Any such decision will be made by the Full Council. 

 
5. Bingo premises 
 

This licensing authority notes that the Gambling Commission’s Guidance 
states: 

 
Licensing authorities will need to satisfy themselves that bingo can be played 
in any bingo premises for which they issue a premises licence.  This will be a 

relevant consideration where the operator of an existing bingo premises 
applies to vary their licence to exclude an area of the existing premises from 

is ambit and then applies for a new premises licence, or multiple licences, for 
that or those excluded areas. 
 

This authority also notes the unusual circumstances in which the splitting of a 
pre-existing premise into two adjacent premises might be permitted, and in 

particular that it is not permissible to locate all of the gaming machines in one 
of the resulting premises, as the gaming machine entitlement for that 
premises would be exceeded. 

 
Children and young people are allowed into bingo premises; however, they 

are not permitted to participate in the bingo and if category B or C machines 
are made available for use these must be separated from areas where 
children and young people are allowed.  

 
This licensing authority notes that the holder of a Bingo premise licence may 

make available for use a number of category B gaming Machines not 
exceeding 20% of the total number of gaming machines which are available 
for use on the premises.  Premises in existence before 13 July 2011 are 

entitled to make available eight category B gaming machines, or 20% of the 
total number of gaming machines, which ever is the greater.  A licence 

variation may be required if operators wishing to take advantage of this 
change in legislation need to make alterations to the structure/layout of the 
premises. 

 
The holder of a bingo premise licence granted on or after 13 July 2011, but 

before 1 April 2014, is entitled to make available a maximum of eight category 

Page 57



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

20 

B machines or 20% of the total number of gaming machines whichever is the 
greater; however, from 1 April 2014 these premises will be enti tled to 20% of 

the total number of gaming machines only. Regulation state that category B 
machines at bingo premises should be restricted to sub-category B3 and B4 

machines, but not B3A lottery machines. 
 
 
6. Betting premises 
 

Betting premises are premises such as bookmakers where various types of 
gambling are authorised to take place. The Act contains a single class of 
licence for betting premises. However, within this single class there are 

different types of premises which require licensing such as normal high street 
bookmakers, bookmakers located in self-contained facilities at racecourses as 

well as the general betting premises licences that track operators will require 
 
Betting machines – the Council is aware that Section 181 of the Act contains 

an express power for licensing authorities to restrict the number of betting 
machines and the nature and circumstances in which they are made available 

by attaching a licence condition to a betting premises licence. When 
considering whether to impose a condition to restrict the number of betting 
machines in particular premises the Council, amongst other things, will take 

into account the size of the premises, the number of counter positions 
available for person to person transactions and the ability of staff to monitor 

the use of the machines by children and young persons (it is an offence for 
those under18 to bet) or by vulnerable people. 
 

 
 
7. Tracks 
 

This licensing authority is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more 

than one premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area 
of the track.  As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance, this licensing 

authority will especially consider the impact upon the third licensing objective 
(i.e., the protection of children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling) and the need to ensure that entrances to each type of 

premises are distinct and that children are excluded from gambling areas 
where they are not permitted to enter. 

 
This authority will therefore expect the premises licence applicants to 
demonstrate suitable measures to ensure that children do not have access to 

adult only gaming facilities.  It is noted that children and young persons will be 
permitted to enter track areas where facilities for betting are provided on days 
when dog-racing and/or horse racing takes place but that they are still 

prevented from entering areas where gaming machines (other than category 
D machines) are provided. 

 
This licensing authority may consider measures to meet the licensing 
objectives such as: 

Page 58



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

21 

 

 Proof of age schemes 

 CCTV 

 Supervision of entrances / machine areas 

 Physical separation of areas 

 Location of entry 

 Notices / signage 

 Specific opening hours 

 Self-exclusion schemes 

 Self-baring schemes 

 Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such  
     as Gamcare 

 
This list is neither mandatory, nor exhaustive and is merely indicative of 
example measures. 

 
Gaming machines – Where the applicant holds a pool betting operating 

licence and is going to use the entitlement to four gaming machines, 
machines (other than category D machines) should be located in areas from 
which children are excluded.  

 
The Council will also consider the special implications of betting machines 

that may arise at a track due to the size of the premises and the possibility 
that machines may be scattered around the site making it more difficult for the 
track operator to comply with the law and prevent children from betting on the 

machines. 
 

The Council agrees with the Commission’s view that it is preferable for all self-
contained premises operated by off-course betting operators on track to be 
the subject of separate premises licences. This ensures that there is clarity 

between the respective responsibilities of the track operator and the off-
course betting operator running a self-contained unit on the premises 

 
The Council will consider any Gambling Commission guidance about the 
application of conditions regarding rules being displayed. The Council may 

require the track operator to ensure that the rules are prominently displayed in 
or near the betting areas, or that the rules are displayed in the race card or 

made available in leaflet form from the track office. 
 
 
Track applications and plans 

The Gambling Act requires applicants to submit plans of the premises with 

their application, in order to ensure that the licensing authority has the 
necessary information to make an informed judgement about whether the 
premises are fit for gambling.  The plan will also be used for the licensing 

authority to plan future premises inspection activity. 
 

Page 59



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

22 

Plans for tracks do not need to be in a particular scale but should be drawn to 
scale and should be sufficiently detailed to include the information required by 

regulations. 
 

Some tracks may be situated on agricultural land where the perimeter is not 
defined by virtue of an outer wall or fence, such as point-to-point racetracks.  
In such instances, where an entry fee is levied, track premises licence holders 

may erect temporary structures to restrict access to premises. 
 

In the rare cases where the outer perimeter cannot be defined, it is likely that 
the track in question will not be specifically designed for the frequent holding 
of sporting events or races.  In such cases betting facilities may be better 

provided through occasional use notices where the boundary premises do not 
need to be defined. 

 
It is sometimes difficult to define the precise location of betting areas on 
tracks.  The precise location of where betting facilities are provided is not 

required to be shown on track plans, both by virtue of the fact that betting is 
permitted anywhere on the premises and because of the difficulties 

associated with pinpointing exact locations for some types of track.  
Applicants should provide sufficient information that this authority can satisfy 
itself that the plan indicates the main areas where betting might take place.  

For racecourses in particular, any betting areas subject to the “five times rule” 
(commonly known as betting rings) must be indicated on the plan. 

 
8. Travelling Fairs 
 

Travelling fairs have traditionally been able to provide various types of low 
stake gambling without the need for a licence or permit provided that certain 

conditions are met, and this provision continues in similar fashion under the 
new Act 
 

Travelling fairs have the right to provide an unlimited number of category D 
gaming machines and/or equal chance prize gaming (without the need for a 

permit) as long as the gambling amounts to no more than an ancillary 
amusement at the fair. 
 

The Council will consider whether any fairs which take up the above 
entitlement fall within the statutory definition of a travelling fair 

 
The Council is aware that the 27 day statutory maximum for the land being 
used as a fair is per calendar year, and that it applies to the piece of land on 

which the fairs are held, regardless of whether it is the same or different 
travelling fairs occupying the land. The Council will work with its neighbouring 

authorities to ensure that land which crosses its boundaries is monitored so 
that the statutory limits are not exceeded. 
 

 
 

 

Page 60



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

23 

9. Provisional Statements 
 

Developers may wish to apply to this authority for provisional statements 
before entering into a contract to buy or lease property or land to judge 

whether a development is worth taking forward in light of the need to obtain a 
premises licence.  There is no need for the applicant to hold an operating 
licence in order to apply for a provisional statement. 

 
S204 of the Gambling Act provides for a person to make an application to the 

licensing authority for a provisional statement in respect of premises that he or 
she: 

- expects to be constructed. 

- expects to be altered; or 
- expects to acquire a right to occupy. 

 
The process for considering an application for a provisional statement is the 
same as that for a premises licence application.  The applicant is obliged to 

give notice of the application in the same way as applying for a premises 
licence.  Responsible authorities and interested parties may make 

representations and there are rights of appeal. 
 
In contrast to the premises licence application, the applicant does not have to 

hold or have applied for an operating licence from the Gambling Commission 
(except in the case of a track) and they do not have to have a right to occupy 

the premises in respect of which their provisional application is made. 
 
The holder of a provisional statement may then apply for a premises licence 

once the premises are constructed, altered or acquired.  The licensing 
authority will be constrained in the matters it can consider when determining 

the premises licence application, and in terms of representations about 
premises licence applications that follow the grant of a provisional statement, 
no further representations from relevant authorities or interested parties can 

be taken into account unless: 

 they concern matters which could not have been addressed at the 

provisional statement stage, or 

 they reflect a change in the applicant’s circumstances. 

 
In addition, the authority may refuse the premises licence (or grant it on terms 
different to those attached to the provisional statement) only by reference to 

matters: 

 which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional 

statement stage. 

 which in the authority’s opinion reflect a change in the operator’s 
circumstances; or 

  where the premises have not been constructed in accordance with the 
plan submitted with the application.  This must be a substantial change 

to the plan and this licensing authority notes that it can discuss any 
concerns it has with the applicant before making a decision. 

 

Page 61



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

24 

 
 
10.   Reviews: 
 

Requests for a review of a premises licence can be made by interested 
parties or responsible authorities; for the licensing authority to decide whether 
the review is valid. This will be on the basis of whether the request for the 

review is relevant to the matters listed below:  

 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 

Commission 

 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 

Commission  

 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and 

 in accordance with the authority’s statement of principles 

 
The request for the review will also be subject to the consideration by the 

authority as to whether the request is frivolous, vexatious, or whether it will 
certainly not cause this authority to wish to alter/revoke/suspend the licence, 
or whether it is substantially the same as previous representations or requests 

for review. 
 

The licensing authority can also initiate a review of a licence on the basis of 
any reason which it thinks is appropriate. 
 

Once a valid application for a review has been received by the licensing 
authority, representations can be made by responsible authorities and 

interested parties during a 28 day period.  This period begins 7 days after the 
application was received by the licensing authority, who will publish notice of 
the application within 7 days of receipt. 

 
The licensing authority must carry out the review as soon as possible after the 

28-day period for making representations has passed. 
 
The purpose of the review will be to determine whether the licensing authority 

should take any action in relation to the licence.  If action is justified, the 
options open to the licensing authority are: - 

 
(a) add, remove or amend a licence condition imposed by 

the licensing authority 

(b) exclude a default condition imposed by the Secretary of 
State or Scottish Ministers (e.g., opening hours) or 

remove or amend such an exclusion. 
(c) suspend the premises licence for a period not exceeding 

three months; and 

(d) revoke the premises licence. 
 

In determining what action, if any, should be taken following a review, the 
licensing authority must have regard to the principles set out in section 153 of 
the Act, as well as any relevant representations. 

 

Page 62



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

25 

In particular, the licensing authority may also initiate a review of a premises 
licence on the grounds that a premises licence holder has not provided 

facilities for gambling at the premises.  This is to prevent people from applying 
for licences in a speculative manner without intending to use them. 

 
Once the review has been completed, the licensing authority must, as soon as 
possible, notify its decision to: 

 
- the licence holder 

- the applicant for review (if any) 
- the Commission 
- any person who made representations 

- the Chief Officer of Police or Chief Constable; and 
- Her Majesty’s Commissioners for Revenue and Customs 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 63



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

26 

 
 

 
 

PART C 
Permits / Temporary & Occasional Use Notice 
 

1. Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permits  

 

The term “Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre” is one defined in the Act 
and refers to premises which provide Category D gaming machines along with 
various other amusements such as computer games and penny pushers. The 

premises are “unlicensed” in that they do not require a premises licence but 
do require a permit to be able to provide Category D machines. It should not 

be confused with a “Licensed Family Entertainment Centre” which does 
require a premises licence because it contains both Category C and D gaming 
machines. 

 
Guidance also states: “An application for a permit may be granted only if the 

licensing authority is satisfied that the premises will be used as an unlicensed 
FEC, and if the Chief Officer of Police has been consulted on the application.  
Licensing authorities might wish to consider asking applicants to demonstrate: 

 

 a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling 

that is permissible in unlicensed FECs; 

 that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in 

Schedule 7 of the Act; and 

 that staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes 
and prizes.” 

 
It should be noted that a licensing authority cannot attach conditions to this 

type of permit.   
 
This licensing authority will expect the applicant to show that there are policies 

and procedures in place to protect children from harm.  Harm in this context is 
not limited to harm from gambling but includes wider child protection 

considerations.  The efficiency of such policies and procedures will each be 
considered on their merits; however, they may include appropriate 
measures/training for staff as regards suspected truant school children on the 

premises, measures/training covering how staff would deal with unsupervised 
very young children being on the premises, or children causing perceived 

problems on / around the premises.  This licensing authority will also expect, 
as per Gambling Commission Guidance, that applicants demonstrate a full 
understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is 

permissible in unlicensed FECs; that the applicant has no relevant convictions 
(those that are set out in Schedule 7 of the Act); and that staff are trained to 

have a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes. 
 
 

 

Page 64



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

27 

 
2. (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits – (Automatic 

entitlement: 2 machines) 
 

There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for 
consumption on the premises, to automatically have 2 gaming machines, of 
categories C and/or D.  The premises merely need to notify the licensing 

authority.   
The licensing authority can remove the automatic authorisation in respect of 

any particular premises if: 

 provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit of 
the licensing objectives. 

 gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of 
section 282 of the Gambling Act (i.e., that written notice has been provided 

to the licensing authority, that a fee has been provided and that any 
relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission about the 

location and operation of the machine has been complied with); 

 the premises are mainly used for gaming; or 

 an offence under the Gambling Act has been committed on the premises. 

 
 
Permit: 3 or more machines 

 
If a premises wishes to have more than 2 machines, then it needs to apply for 

a permit and the licensing authority must consider that application based upon 
the licensing objectives, any guidance issued by the Gambling Commission 

issued under Section 25 of the Gambling Act 2005, and “such matters as they 
think relevant”.  “Such matters” will be decided on a case by case basis with 
regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable persons from harm or 

being exploited by gambling and an expectation that the applicant will 
demonstrate there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year 

olds do not have access to the adult only gaming machines.  Measures which 
will satisfy the authority that there will be no access may include the adult 
machines being in sight of the bar, or in the sight of staff who will monitor that 

the machines are not being used by those under 18.  Notices and signage 
may also be of help.  As regards the protection of vulnerable persons 

applicants may wish to consider the provision of information leaflets/helpline 
numbers for organisations such as GamCare. 
 

Some alcohol licensed premises may apply for a premises licence for their 
non-alcohol licensed areas.  Any such application would most likely need to 

be applied for and dealt with as an Adult Gaming Centre premises licence. 
 
The licensing authority can decide to grant the application with a smaller 

number of machines and/or a different category of machines than that applied 
for.  Conditions (other than these) cannot be attached. 

 
The holder of a permit must comply with any Code of Practice issued by the 
Gambling Commission about the location and operation of the machine. 

 

Page 65



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

28 

 
3. Prize Gaming Permits 

 

The Gambling Act 2005 states that a licensing authority may “prepare a 

statement of principles that they propose to apply in exercising their functions 
under this “Schedule” which “may, in particular, specify matters that the 
licensing authority propose to consider in determining the suitability of the 

applicant for a permit”. 
 

This licensing authority has prepared a Statement of Principles that it 
proposes to apply, which is that the applicant should set out the types of 
gaming that he or she is intending to offer, and that the applicant should be 

able to demonstrate: 
 

 that they understand the limits to stakes and prized that are set out in 
Regulations. 

  that the gaming offered is within the law 

 Clear policies that outline the steps to be taken to protect children from 
harm. 

 
In making its decision on an application for this permit the licensing authority 

does not need to (but may) have regard to the licensing objectives but must 
have regard to any Gambling Commission guidance.  (Gambling Act 2005, 
Schedule 14 paragraph 8(3)). 

 
There are conditions in the Gambling Act 2005 with which the permit holder 

must comply, however the licensing authority cannot attach conditions.  The 
conditions in the Act are: 
 

 the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be complied 
with. 

 all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the premises 
on which the gaming is taking place and on one day; the game must be 

played and completed on the day the chances are allocated; and the result 
of the game must be made public in the premises on the day that it is 
played. 

 the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set out 
in regulations (if a money prize), or the prescribed value (i f non-monetary 

prize); and  

 participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any 
other gambling. 

 
 
4. Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits 
 

Members Clubs and Miners’ Welfare Institutes (but not Commercial Clubs) 

may apply for a Club Gaming Permit or a Clubs Gaming Machines Permit.  
The Club Gaming Permit will enable the premises to provide gaming 

machines (3 machines of categories B, C or D), equal chance gaming and 

Page 66



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

29 

games of chance as set out in forthcoming regulations.  A Club Gaming 
machine permit will enable the premises to provide gaming machines (3 

machines of categories B, C or D). 
 

Gambling Commission Guidance states:  Members clubs must have at least 
25 members and be established and conducted “wholly or mainly” for 
purposes other than gaming, unless the gaming is permitted by separate 

regulations.  It is anticipated that this will cover bridge and whist clubs, which 
will replicate the position under the Gaming Act 1968.  A members’ club must 

be permanent in nature, not established to make commercial profit, and 
controlled by its members equally.  Examples include working men’s clubs, 
branches of Royal British Legion and clubs with political affiliations. 

 
Before granting the permit, the Council will need to satisfy itself that the 

premises meet the requirements of a members’ club and that the majority of 
members are over 18 years of age. 
 

The Commission Guidance also notes that “licensing authorities may only 
refuse an application on the grounds that: 

 
(a) the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or 

commercial club or miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not entitled to 

receive the type of permit for which it has applied. 
(b) the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or 

young persons. 
(c) an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed by 

the applicant while providing gaming facilities. 

(d) a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten 
years; or  

(e) an objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police. 
 
There are statutory conditions on club gaming permits that no child uses a 

category B or C machine on the premises and that the holder complies with 
any relevant provision of a code of practice about the location and operation 

of gaming machines. 
 
A summary of gaming machine categories and entitlements can be found at 

Appendix B of the Guidance issued to Licensing Authorities by the Gambling 
Commission. https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/guidance/guidance-to-

licensingauthorities. 
 
5. Temporary Use Notices 

 

Temporary Use Notices allow the use of premises for gambling where there is 

no premises licence but where a gambling operator wishes to use the 
premises temporarily for providing facilities for gambling.  Premises that might 
be suitable for a Temporary Use Notice, according to the Gambling 

Commission, would include hotels, conference centres and sporting venues. 
 

Page 67

https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/guidance/guidance-to-licensingauthorities
https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/guidance/guidance-to-licensingauthorities


 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

30 

The licensing authority can only grant a Temporary Use Notice to a person or 
company holding a relevant operating licence, i.e., a non-remote casino 

operating licence. 
 

The Secretary of State has the power to determine what form of gambling can 
be authorised by Temporary Use Notices, and at the time of writing this 
Statement the relevant regulations (SI no 3157: The Gambling Act 2005 

(Temporary Use Notices) Regulations 2007) state that Temporary Use 
Notices can only be used to permit the provision of facilities or equal chance 

gaming, where the gaming is intended to produce a single winner, which in 
practice means poker tournaments. 
 

There are a number of statutory limits as regards temporary use notices.  The 
meaning of “premises” in part 8 of the Act is discussed in Part 7 of the 

Gambling Commission Guidance to Licensing Authorities.  As with “premises”, 
the definition of “a set of premises” is defined as including “any place”.  In 
considering whether a place falls within the definition of “a set of premises”, 

the licensing authority needs to look at, amongst other things, the 
ownership/occupation and control of the premises. 

  
This licensing authority expects to object to notices where it appears that their 
effect would be to permit regular gambling in a place that could be described 

as one set of premises, as recommended in the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities. 

 
6. Occasional Use Notices: 
 

The licensing authority has very little discretion as regards these notices aside 
from ensuring that the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not 

exceeded.  This licensing authority will though consider the definition of a 
‘track’ and whether the applicant is permitted to avail him/herself of the notice. 
 
7.  Small Society Lotteries 

 

The Act creates two principal classes of lotteries - licensed lotteries and 
exempt lotteries. Licensed lotteries are large society lotteries and lotteries run 
for the benefit of local authorities. These will be regulated by the Gambling 

Commission. Within the class of exempt lotteries, there are four sub classes, 
one of which is small society lotteries 

 
A small society lottery is a lottery promoted on behalf of a non-commercial 
society as defined in the Act which also meets specific financial requirements 

set out in the Act. These may be administered by the Council for small 
societies who have a principal office in the area and wish to run such a lottery 

 
A lottery is small if the total value of tickets put on sale in a single lottery is 
£20,000 or less and the aggregate value of the tickets put on sale in a 

calendar year is £250,000 or less 
 

To be ‘non-commercial’, a society must be established and conducted: 

Page 68



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

31 

 
• For charitable purposes 

• For the purpose of enabling participation in, or supporting, sport, athletics or 
a cultural activity; or 

• For any other non-commercial purpose other than that of private gain. 
 
The other types of exempt lotteries are ‘incidental non-commercial lotteries’, 

‘private lotteries’ and ‘customer lotteries’ 
 

The licensing authority will adopt a risk-based approach towards its 
enforcement responsibilities for small society lotteries.  The authority 
considers that the following list, although not exhaustive, could affect the risk 

status of the operator: 
 

 Submission of late returns (returns must be submitted no later that 3 
months after the date on which the lottery was held) 

 Submission of incomplete or incorrect returns. 

 Breaches of limits for small society lotteries 
 

Non-commercial gaming is permitted if it takes place at a non-commercial 
event, either as an incidental or principal activity at the event.  Events are non 

commercial if no part of the proceeds is for private profit or gain.  The 
proceeds of such events may benefit one or more individuals if the activity is 
organised: 

 

 By, or on behalf of, a charity or for charitable purposes 

 To enable participation in or support of, sporting, athletic or cultural 
activities. 

 
If charities or community groups need further help or advice, then they can 
contact the Council’s Licensing Team. 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 69



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

32 

 
AAppppeennddiixx  11::  TTAABBLLEE  OOFF  DDEELLEEGGAATTIIOONNSS  OOFF  LLIICCEENNSSIINNGG  FFUUNNCCTTIIOONNSS  

 

MATTER TO BE DEALT WITH FULL 
COUNCIL 

SUB-COMMITTEE OFFICERS 

Three year licensing policy X   

Policy not to permit casinos X   

Fee Setting - when appropriate 
 

 X (to be approved by Licensing & 
Regulatory Committee) 

Application for premises licences 

 

Where representations have been 

received and not withdrawn 

Where no representations 

received/ representations have 
been withdrawn 

Application for a variation to a licence 
 

Where representations have been 
received and not withdrawn 

Where no representations 
received/ representations have 
been withdrawn 

Application for a transfer of a licence 
 

Where representations have been 

received from the Commission 

Where no representations 

received from the Commission 

Application for a provisional statement 
 

Where representations have been 
received and not withdrawn 

Where no representations 
received/ representations have 
been withdrawn 

Review of a premises licence  X  

Application for club gaming /club 

machine permits  

Where representations have been 

received and not withdrawn 

Where no representations 

received/ representations have 
been withdrawn 

Cancellation of club gaming/ club 
machine permits 

 X  

Applications for other permits   X 

Cancellation of licensed premises 
gaming machine permits 

  X 

Consideration of temporary use notice   X 

Decision to give a counter notice to a 

temporary use notice 
 X  

Small Society Lotteries 
 

Where refusal or revocation is 
recommended 

Authority to grant or cancel Small 
Society registrations 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 70



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

33 

 

 
 

Appendix 2: Map of the High Peak District  

Page 71



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

34 

 
Appendix 3: Licensing Authority’s Guidance to Operators with Regards 

to Local Area Risk Assessments 
 

Local Gambling Risk Assessment - SAMPLE 
Premises Name:  Premises Licence Number (If 

Applicable):  

Premises Address:  

Post Code:  

Category of gambling premises licence:  

Name of person completing the assessment:  

Date original assessment carried out: 

 

This risk assessment must be completed for all new premises or when the 
premises licence is varied. The assessment must also be reviewed when there 

are any significant changes to either the local circumstances and/or the premises.  
 
Complete a) - c) with areas that may pose a risk to the licensing objectives by 

virtue of the provision of gambling facilities at the premises having regard to Local 

Area, Gambling Operation and premises design. 
 

a) Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated 
with crime or disorder or being used to support crime  
      
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

b) Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way  
      
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 72



 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

35 

 
c) Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling.  
      
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

d) Control measures (based on the information above for a) – c), state the control 
measures you will put in place, e.g. systems, design and physical) 
 
Describe the steps you intend to take to promote the three licensing objectives: 
 
      
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
ACTIONS FOLLOWING ASSESSMENT 

AREA e.g local area, 
gambling operation, 

premises design 

PERSON/DEPT 
TASKED  

 

DATE 
TASKED 

DATE TASK 
COMPLETED 

 
 

   

 
 

   

 
 

   

 
 

   

 

Signed: Date: 

PRINT NAME: 

For further guidance on completing this assessment or when this assessment 
must be reviewed please refer to Gambling Commission Guidance on 

Undertaking Gambling Local Area Risk Assessments 

https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/licensees-and-business/guide/local-
area-risk-assessments. 

 

Page 73

https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/licensees-and-business/guide/local-area-risk-assessments
https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/licensees-and-business/guide/local-area-risk-assessments


 

High Peak Borough Council 

Gambling Act 2005  
Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 

36 

 

Page 74



  

 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

Licensing Committee 
 

31 March 2022 
 

 

TITLE: 
 

Licensing Enforcement Activity 
 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 

 

Councillor Fiona Sloman - Executive 
Councillor for Housing and Licensing 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: 
 

Alicia Patterson – Head of Environmental 
Health 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
All Wards 

 
 
 
1. Reason for the Report 
 

1.1 To update members in relation to the enforcement activity undertaken within 

the Licensing Section. 
 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the committee notes the contents of the report. 
 
3.0      Executive Summary 

 

3.1     In the period November 2021 to February 2022 the Licensing service has   
remained operational throughout the Covid-19 Pandemic and engaged in a 
number of enforcement actions. These activities have involved reactive 

responses to complaints and intelligence received from the public and partner 
agencies as well as proactive compliance checks. It is pleasing to report that 

the Licensing Section has noted a good level of compliance overall. 
 
 

3.2      Officers seek to encourage licence holders to conduct their activity in a safe 
           manner, maintain good standards and to comply with the law. Officers have to 

           exercise considerable discretion when approaching individual licence holders. 
           Licensees are often anxious to comply with the law and for such cases the 
           officer's role will be to provide guidance and advice. However, in carrying out 

           their functions officers are authorised with a wide range of powers and may, 
           for example, require entry at all reasonable times or require the production of 

           certain documents. 
 
 

 

Page 75

Agenda Item 6



  

3.3      If, on enquiry, officers find evidence that the law is being broken and  
           enforcement is required, they can respond in various ways. They may instruct 
           or warn by letter; revoke or suspend a licence; and, where the circumstances 

           warrant it, they may formally caution or prosecute without prior warnings and 
           without recourse to alternative sanctions. Officers will have due regard to the 

           relevant Enforcement Policies when determining the most appropriate course 
           of action. 
 

3.4      Below is a summary of enforcement activity carried out during this period. 
           The figures shown below include the contacts made with the Taxi Drivers and           

           Operators, all contacts have been in relation to the renewal process. Licences                 
           to drive hackney carriages and private hire vehicles need to be renewed      
           annually or three yearly. The Authority sends one reminder out to our drivers  

           60 days before their licence is due to expire, advising of any additional checks  
           including DBS and Medical assessments, MOT requirements etc. 

 
 
 

Area Applications 

Received / 
letters sent 

out 

Processed Rejected 

Charity Collections House to House 2 2 Permits Issued 0 
Rejected 

Charity Collections Street Collections 6 6  Permits Issued 0 
Rejected 

Pavement Licenses 0   

Personal Alcohol Licenses 13 13 of which 9 were 

new Licenses and 4 
changes to Holders 

circumstances 

 

Road Closure Orders 14 7 RCO issued 7 still in 
consultation 

0 
Refused 

Small Society Lottery Chase Ups 32   

Small Society Lottery Renewal letters 
sent out 

16   

Taxi Drivers 65   

Taxi Hackney Vehicles 40   

Taxi Operators 5   

Taxi Private Hire Vehicles 44   

TENS with Alcohol 21   

TENS LATE with Alcohol 10   

TENS without Alcohol 0   

TENS LATE without Alcohol 0   

Vary DPS  25 incl. 5 change of 
address 

 

Transfers 7   

PLH Change of address/name 6   

Street Trading New 2   

Street Trading Renewals 7   

Page 76



  

Events and Daily 8   

    

Application for the Grant of a Premises 
Licence  

1   

Surrender of Premises Licences 6   

Premises Licence lapsed 1   

Application for a Time Limited Premises 

Licence 

1   

Full variation of a Premises Licence 2   

    

Attendance at Pubwatch 3   

Joint enforcement visits with Derbyshire 

Police 

7   

    

 
 
3.5    The Council has not issued any penalty points to drivers or operators since   

         the last report. 
 

3.6    In addition to the above the Licensing Section has responded to a number of         
         complaints and request for service in relation to the COVID-19 Pandemic. 

 
4.      How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 

4.1    The appropriate enforcement of licensing legislation in partnership 
with relevant agencies is a key tool in ensuring the safety of our residents and 
visitors. 

          
 
5.      Alternative Options 

 
5.1    There are no alternative options to consider.  

 
 

Mark Trillo  
Executive Director (Governance & Commissioning) 

 
 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

 Alicia Patterson 
Head of Environmental Health 

alicia.patterson@highpeak.gov.uk 
 

 

 

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To approve the Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing Policy review and consultation
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4
	Appendix 5

	5 Review of Gambling Policy
	Appendix A Revised Gambling Policy 2022-2025

	6 Licensing Enforcement Activity



